
 

 

 

Cabinet 
 

Title Agenda 

Date Tuesday 12 March 2024 

Time 6.00 pm 

Venue Conference Chamber 

West Suffolk House 
Western Way  

Bury St Edmunds  

Membership Leader Cliff Waterman 

 Deputy Leader Victor Lukaniuk 

 Councillor Portfolio 

 Donna Higgins Families and Communities 
 Diane Hind Resources 
 Gerald Kelly Governance and Regulatory 

 Richard O’Driscoll Housing 
 Ian Shipp Leisure 

 David Taylor Operations 
 Jim Thorndyke Planning 
 Cliff Waterman Leader 

 Indy Wijenayaka Growth 

Interests – 

declaration and 
restriction on 

participation 

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 

disclosable pecuniary interest, other registerable or non-
registrable interest which they have in any item of business on 

the agenda, no later than when that item is reached and, 
when appropriate, to leave the meeting prior to discussion and 
voting on the item. 

Quorum Four Members 

Committee 

administrator 

Claire Skoyles 

Democratic Services Officer 
Telephone 01284 757176 

Email democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


 

 

Public information 
 

 

Venue Conference Chamber, West Suffolk House, Western Way,  

Bury St Edmunds IP33 3YU 
 

Contact 
information 

Telephone: 01284 757176 
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

Website: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk 
 

Access to 
agenda and 
reports before 

the meeting 

The agenda and reports will be available to view at least five 
clear days before the meeting on our website. 
 

 

Attendance at 

meetings 

This meeting is being held in person in order to comply with the  

Local Government Act 1972. We may be required to restrict the  
number of members of the public able to attend in accordance  

with the room capacity. If you consider it is necessary for you  
to attend, please inform Democratic Services in advance of the  
meeting. 

 
As a local authority, we have a corporate and social  

responsibility for the safety of our staff, our councillors and  
visiting members of the public. We, therefore, request that you  
exercise personal responsibility and do not attend the meeting if  

you feel at all unwell. 
 

West Suffolk Council continues to promote good hygiene  
practices with hand sanitiser and wipes being available in the  
meeting room. Attendees are also able to wear face coverings,  

should they wish to 
 

Public 
participation 

Members of the public who live or work in the district are  
invited to put one question or statement of not more than three  

minutes duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of  
the agenda only. If a question is asked and answered within  
three minutes, the person who asked the question may ask a  

supplementary question that arises from the reply. 
  

The Constitution allows that a person who wishes to speak must  
register at least 15 minutes before the time the meeting is  
scheduled to start. We urge anyone who wishes to register  

to speak to notify Democratic Services by 9am on the day  
of the meeting so that advice can be given on the  

arrangements in place. 
 
There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking, 

which may be extended at the Chair’s discretion. 
 

 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/


 

  Pages 
 

 

Accessibility If you have any difficulties in accessing the meeting, the 
agenda and accompanying reports, including for reasons of a 

disability or a protected characteristic, please contact 
Democratic Services at the earliest opportunity using the 
contact details provided above in order that we may assist you. 

 

Recording of 

meetings 

The Council may record this meeting and permits members of 

the public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the 
media and public are not lawfully excluded). 

 
Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to 
being filmed should advise the Committee Administrator who 

will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 
 

Personal 
information 

Any personal information processed by West Suffolk Council 
arising from a request to speak at a public meeting under the 

Localism Act 2011, will be protected in accordance with the 
Data Protection Act 2018.  For more information on how we do 
this and your rights in regards to your personal information and 

how to access it, visit our website: 
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/

howweuseinformation.cfm or call Customer Services: 01284 
763233 and ask to speak to the Information Governance 
Officer. 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/howweuseinformation.cfm
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/howweuseinformation.cfm


 

  Pages 
 

 

 Agenda 
 

 

 Procedural matters 
 

 

1.   Apologies for absence  

2.   Minutes 1 - 12 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2024 
(copy attached). 
 

 

3.   Declarations of interest  

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 

disclosable pecuniary interest, other registerable or non-
registrable interest which they have in any item of business on 

the agenda, no later than when that item is reached and, 
when appropriate, to leave the meeting prior to discussion and 
voting on the item. 
 

 

 Part 1 - public 
 

 

4.   Open forum  

 At each Cabinet meeting, up to 15 minutes shall be allocated for 
questions or statements from and discussion with, non-Cabinet 
members. Members wishing to speak during this session are 

encouraged to give notice in advance. Who speaks and for how 
long will be at the complete discretion of the person presiding. 
 

 

5.   Public participation  

 Members of the public who live or work in the district are invited 

to put one question or statement of not more than three minutes 
duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of the agenda 
only. If a question is asked and answered within three minutes, 

the person who asked the question may ask a supplementary 
question that arises from the reply.  

 
A person who wishes to speak must register at least 15 minutes 
before the time the meeting is scheduled to start. This can be 

done online by sending the request to 
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or telephoning 01284 

757176 or in person by telling the Committee Administrator 
present at the meeting. We would urge anyone who wishes 
to register to speak to notify Democratic Services by 9am 

on the day of the meeting so that advice can be given on 
the arrangements in place.   

 
There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking, 
which may be extended at the Chair’s discretion. 

 

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


 

  Pages 
 

 

 Non key decisions 
 

 

6.   West Suffolk Council Food Safety and Health and Safety 
Service Plan 2024 to 2025 

13 - 54 

 Report number: CAB/WS/24/017 

Portfolio holder: Councillor Gerald Kelly 
Lead officers: Jen Eves and Andrew Newman 
 

 

7.   Decisions Plan: 1 March 2024 to 31 May 2024 55 - 62 

 To consider the most recently published version of the Cabinet’s 

Decisions Plan 
 
Report number: CAB/WS/24/018 

Leader of the Council: Councillor Cliff Waterman 
Lead officer: Ian Gallin 
 

 

8.   Revenues collection performance and write offs 63 - 66 

 Report number: CAB/WS/24/019 

Portfolio holder: Councillor Diane Hind 
Lead officer: Rachael Mann 
 

 

9.   Exclusion of press and public  

 To consider whether the press and public should be excluded 

during the consideration of the following items because it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or 
the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were 

present during the items, there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt categories of information as prescribed in Part 1 of 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and indicated 
against each item and, in all circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 

interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

 Part 2 - exempt 

 

 

10.   Exempt appendices: Revenues collection performance and 
write-offs (paragraphs 1 and 2) 

67 - 72 

 Exempt appendices 1, 2 and 3 to Report number: 
CAB/WS/24/019 
Portfolio holder: Councillor Diane Hind 

Lead officer: Rachael Mann 
 

(These exempt appendices are to be considered in private under 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 

1972, as they contain information relating to an individual and 
information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.) 
 

 



 

  Pages 
 

 

(No representations have been received from members of the 
public regarding this item being held in private.) 
 



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

Cabinet 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Tuesday 6 February 2024 at 
6.00pm in the Conference Room, Mildenhall Hub, Sheldrick Way, Mildenhall, 
IP28 7JX 

 
Present Councillors 

 
 Chair Cliff Waterman (Leader of the Council) 

Vice Chair Victor Lukaniuk (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
 

Donna Higgins 

Diane Hind 
Gerald Kelly 

Ian Shipp 
 

David Taylor 

Jim Thorndyke 
Indy Wijenayaka 

By invitation  

Sarah Broughton (Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee) 

 
In attendance  
Andy Neal  

 

540. Introduction  
 

Prior to the start of the meeting, Councillor Cliff Waterman, Leader of the 
Council, referred to King Charles III recent cancer diagnosis and wished him a 
speedy recovery and hoped that the release of his diagnosis would help to 

promote public awareness of the disease.  The Chair of the Council would also 
be writing to Buckingham Palace to send the Council’s best wishes and 

support to the King.  The Leader also asked the Cabinet to join him in sending 
their best wishes to the King and his family at this time. 
 

The Leader also introduced two Officers who were present to observe the 
Cabinet meeting and who were participating in the Council’s Aspiring Leader’s 

Programme.  
 

541. Apologies for absence  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Richard O’Driscoll. 
 

542. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2023 were confirmed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

543. Declarations of interest  
 
Members’ declarations of interest are recorded under the item to which the 

declaration relates. 
 

544. Open forum  
 
 The following non-Cabinet member spoke under this item: 

 
1.  Councillor Andy Neal (Ward Member for Mildenhall Queensway) 
 

Councillor Andy Neal addressed the Cabinet in relation to Agenda Item 
13 (Community Chest Grants 2024 to 2025) and made specific 

reference to Mildenhall Town Football Club who had made an 
application to this fund, but which had been unsuccessful. 
 

Councillor Neal then went on to raise his general concerns in relation to 
the grant funding process and questioned whether it was fair and 

equal.  In his view, consideration should also be given to ensuring that 
there was an equal geographical spread of funding across the district of 
West Suffolk as a whole. 

 
In response to his concerns, Councillor Neal was informed by Councillor 

Donna Higgins, the Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities, that 
the application process was open to organisations across the whole of 
West Suffolk and each application was considered on its own merits.  

The Portfolio Holder also confirmed that she would seek to ascertain as 
to why the application from the Football Club had been unsuccessful 

and would report back to Councillor Neal accordingly.  
 

545. Public participation  
 

There were no members of the public in attendance on this occasion. 
 

546. Report of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint 
Committee: 5 December 2023 (Report number CAB/WS/24/004) 
 

The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed members of the 
following substantive items discussed by the Anglia Revenues and Benefits 
Partnership Joint Committee at their meeting held on 5 December 2023: 

 
1. Performance report 

2. Welfare reform update 
3. ARP financial performance 
4. ARP Joint Committee partnership budget 

5. ARP Joint Committee service plan and risk register support 
6. Forthcoming issues 

 
Councillor Diane Hind, Portfolio Holder for Resources, drew relevant issues to 
the attention of the Cabinet.  

 
Councillor Hind also expressed her thanks to the staff at the Partnership for 

their continued support to the residents of West Suffolk. 

Page 2



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

547. Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 18 January 2024  
(Report number CAB/WS/24/005) 
 

The Cabinet received this report, which informed Members of the following 
substantive items discussed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at their 

meeting held on 18 January 2024: 
 
1. Housing update 

2. Cabinet Decisions Plan: 1 February 2024 to 31 May 2024 
3. Work programme update 2024 

 
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 

drew relevant issues to the attention of the Cabinet and particularly referred 
to the housing update which had been provided by Councillor Richard 
O’Driscoll, Portfolio Holder for Housing, who had also been present at the 

meeting. 
 

548. Report of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: 25 January 
2024 (Report number CAB/WS/24/006) 
 
The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed Members of the 

following substantive items discussed by the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee at their meeting held on 25 January 2024: 

 
1. Delivering a Sustainable Medium-Term Budget 
2. Internal Audit Report on Bank Mandate Fraud 

3. CIPFA Guidance on Audit Committees 
4. Co-opting Non-elected Independent Members 

5. 2023 to 2024 Performance Report (Quarter Three) 
6. Treasury Management Report (December 2023) 
7. Annual Financial Resilience Management Statement and Investment 

Strategy Statements (2024 to 2025) 
8. Work Programme Update  

 
The Cabinet also noted that separate reports were included on the Cabinet 
agenda for Items 1., 6. and 7. above. 

 

549. Recommendations of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: 
25 January 2024 - Delivering a Sustainable Medium-Term Budget  

(Report number CAB/WS/24/007) 
 

The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending to Council, 
approval of proposals for inclusion in the budget for 2024 to 2025 and 
medium-term financial plans. 

 
At its meeting on 23 November 2023, the Committee had been informed of 

the process and approach to setting the Council’s 2024 to 2025 budget and 
the principles and challenges faced in achieving this.  On 25 January 2024, 
the Committee received an update on key budget assumptions proposed in 

the development of the 2024 to 2025 budget and medium-term plans. 
 

The proposals, as set out in Section 2 and Appendix A (budget assumptions) 
and Appendix C (capital programme) of Report number PAS/WS/24/001 had 

Page 3



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

been incorporated into the budget setting process, the composite report for 
which was to be considered by Cabinet later in the meeting under Agenda 

Item 12, for referral to Council on 20 February 2024.  Should Cabinet, 
therefore, not endorse any of the proposals endorsed by the Performance and 

Audit Scrutiny Committee, or suggest alternatives, this would need to be 
reflected in the subsequent budget setting documentation and 
recommendations. 

 
Councillor Diane Hind, Portfolio Holder for Resources, drew relevant issues to 

the attention of Cabinet and also thanked the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee for their role in scrutinising the budget proposals for 2024 to 2025 
and beyond. 

 
Recommended to Council (as part of the budget setting 

process) (20 February 2024): 
 

That:- 

1. The proposal as detailed in Section 2 of Report number 
PAS/WS/24/001 and Appendix A (budget assumption changes) 

be included in the 2024 to 2025 Revenue Budget. 
 

2. The capital programme, as set out in Appendix C of Report 
number PAS/WS/24/001, be included in the 2024 to 2025 
budget setting process. 

 

550. Recommendation of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: 
25 January 2024 - Treasury Management Report - December 2023  

(Report number CAB/WS/24/008) 
 
The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending to Council, the 

approval of the Treasury Management Report from 1 April 2023 to 31 
December 2023. 

 
Councillor Diane Hind, Portfolio Holder for Resources, drew relevant issues to 
the attention of Cabinet.  The total amount invested as at 31 December 2023 

was £55,750,000.  Interest achieved in the first nine months of the financial 
year amounted to £2,083,152.79 against a budget for the period of 

£536,250.  This had created a budgetary surplus of £1,546,902.79 due to two 
main reasons: 
 

- The Council holding higher levels of cash balances than anticipated. 
- The rising Bank of England base rate having a knock-in effect on 

investment returns. 
 
External borrowing as of 31 December 2023 was £9,500,000, a reduction of 

£250,000 from 1 April 2023 which related to the repayment plan for the 
recent Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) £10 million, 40-year loan, with the 

Council’s level of internal borrowing being £47,604,200 as of 31 December 
2023.  The overall borrowing total of both external and internal was expected 

to increase over the full financial year. 
 
 

 

Page 4



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

Recommended to Council (20 February 2024): 
 

That the Treasury Management Report (December 2023), as contained 
in Report number FRS/WS/24/001, be approved. 

 

551. Recommendations of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: 
25 January 2024 - Financial Resilience - Strategy Statement 2024 to 
2025 and Treasury Management Code of Practice  

(Report number CAB/WS/24/009) 
 

The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending to Council, the 
approval of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2024 to 2025 and 

the Treasury Management Code of Practice. 
 
Councillor Diane Hind, Portfolio Holder for Resources, drew relevant issues to 

the attention of the Cabinet.  The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management Code of Practice required that, 

prior to the start of the financial year, the Council should formally approve a 
Treasury Management Policy Statement and Investment Strategy, setting out 
the Council’s treasury management policy and strategy for the forthcoming 

year. 
 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2024 to 2025 was attached as 
Appendix 1 to Report number FRS/WS/24/002 and the Treasury Management 
Code of Practice attached as Appendix 2.  The report also included additional 

supporting information on treasury advisors; borrowing strategy; investment 
strategy counter party ratings and interest rate projections. 

 
Recommended to Council (20 February 2024): 

 

That: 
1. The Treasury Management Statement 2024 to 2025, as set out 

in Appendix 1 to Report number FRS/WS/24/002, be approved. 
 

2. The Treasury Management Code of Practice, as set out in 

Appendix 2 to Report number FRS/WS/24/002, be approved. 
 

552. Budget and Council Tax Setting 2024 to 2025 and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2024 to 2028 (Report number CAB/WS/24/010) 
 
The Cabinet considered this report, which presented proposals for the budget 

and council tax setting in 2024 to 2025 and the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) 2024 to 2028.  This report provided details of the Council’s 

proposed revenue and capital budgets for 2024 to 2025 and in the medium 
term and the Cabinet was required to recommend to Council, the approval of 

the 2024 to 2025 budget for the authority, including establishing the level of 
council tax required to help fund the Council’s activities over the next year. 
 

Councillor Diane Hind, Portfolio Holder for Resources, drew relevant issues to 
the attention of the Cabinet.  The budget had been created to invest in West 

Suffolk’s future, improve services and keep charges low.  It invested in a fair, 
thriving and sustainable future for West Suffolk and improved essential 
services, whilst meeting significant national and local financial challenges.  

Page 5



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

The budget would support and help drive the delivery of the authority’s 
ambitious strategic priorities.  Investment in these areas included: 

 
- Essential services that residents relied on, such as improved grass cutting 

and grounds maintenance. 
- Funding leisure improvements, as well as new equipment and 

refurbishment of play areas and open spaces. 

- Ways to bring more affordable homes to West Suffolk and help prevent 
people becoming homeless. 

- Working alone and with partners to improve and rent out property for 
businesses to create jobs, improve skills and grow the local economy. 

- Helping the town centres, by supporting the markets and parking 

improvements. 
- Backing sustainable communities by supporting crucial groups and 

volunteers that were the backbone of society and provided vital support. 
- Funding commissioning work around Brandon and potential economic 

benefits on the A11, A1307 and A14 corridors. 

 
The Council would continue to invest in initiatives that generated income and 

wider benefits, such as Solar for Business.  In addition, £1million would be 
made in savings or new local income over the next two years as part of the 

Council’s forthcoming service improvement and behaving commercially 
programmes.  This would be in addition to the £1 million already achieved in 
the current year’s budget to make the Council as efficient as possible. 

 
West Suffolk Council was forecasting a two-year balanced budget despite an 

additional £5 million in pressures (around 7 per cent of the overall £69 million 
gross budget). This had been caused by increased inflation, cost of living and 
higher demand for services, additional demands from Government and 

traditional reduced funding. 
 

This year the Government had given a significantly below inflation settlement 
and expected in their calculations that all councils put up Council Tax to the 
maximum amount available (2.99 per cent). West Suffolk Council was 

proposing to follow other local authorities and Government guidance, with a 
rise of 11p a week extra (£5.76 a year increase) to £197.82 for the average 

Band D property. 70 per cent of properties in West Suffolk were in Bands A to 
C and, would, therefore pay less than this. The Council Tax paid to West 
Suffolk Council was only around 11 per cent of the total bill and covered 

under a fifth of the cost of services. The Council had also agreed to extend up 
to 100 per cent discount on Council Tax to many low income and vulnerable 

residents, including those in work.  
 
The 2023 to 2024 budget approved in February 2023, included support for 

the introduction of a long term empty homes premium after twelve months of 
a property becoming vacant and this 2024 to 2025 budget included proposals 

to implement additional powers given to local government to levy a second 
homes premium within the district from April 2025. These financial levers 
enabled local councils to use council tax to achieve behavioural changes 

linked to bringing empty properties and second homes back into general use 
within the locality.  

 

Page 6



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

Members also noted that as part of the budget setting process, the Council 
had undertaken a review of its fees and charges pricing used in the budget 

and medium-term.  The fees and charges that were changing were detailed in 
Attachment D, Appendix 6a.  As set out in the West Suffolk Fees and Charges 

Policy and the Constitution, where fees and charges were proposed to be 
increased by more than five percent, this constituted a Key Decision.  This 
would, therefore, be a decision of Cabinet and would be subject to the call-in 

process.  
 

Councillor Hind concluded by commending the Finance Team, the 
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee, together with Officers and 
Cabinet colleagues, for their work in being able to secure a balanced budget 

for 2024 to 2025. 
  

Councillor Cliff Waterman, Leader of the Council, expressed his thanks to 
Councillor Diane Hind, the Cabinet, the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee and Officers for all of the work which had been undertaken to 

produce a balanced and forward looking budget.  The Council would also 
continue to lobby Government for fairer funding for Local Government as its 

medium term plans could be significantly impacted if the current level of 
funding continued to reduce.  Local Government was at the forefront of 

delivering the services that residents relied on and the Council must be able 
to continue to meet the needs of its communities and businesses. 
 

Councillor Victor Lukaniuk, Deputy Leader of the Council, also expressed his 
support for the budget proposals.  This support was also expressed by other 

members of the Cabinet.  
 

Recommended to Council (as part of the budget setting 

process) (20 February 2024): 
 

 That: 
1. The revenue and capital budget for 2024 to 2028, plus 2023 to 

2024 capital projects that subsequently require to be carried 

forward at the year end, attached at Attachment A and as 
detailed in Attachment D (Appendices 1-6), Attachment E, and 

Attachment F to Report number CAB/WS/24/010, be approved. 
 

2. Having taken into account the conclusions of the Director’s 

(Resources and Property) report on the adequacy of reserves 
and the robustness of budget estimates (Attachment C) and the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) (Attachment D), 
particularly the Scenario Planning and Sensitivity Analysis 
(Attachment D, Appendix 5) and all other information contained 

in Report number CAB/WS/24/010, the Cabinet recommends the 
level of council tax for 2024 to 2025 be established at £197.82 

for an average band D property (the level of council tax beyond 
April 2025 will be set in accordance with the annual budget 
process for the relevant financial year). 

 
3. The Director (Resources and Property), in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Resources, be authorised to vire funds 
between existing Earmarked Reserves (as set out at Attachment 

Page 7



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

D, Appendix 3) as deemed appropriate throughout the medium 
term financial planning period. 

 
4. The Director (Resources and Property) in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Resources, be given delegated authority to 
formulate and implement in full, Government grant, discount or 
relief schemes (examples include but not limited to those set out 

in paragraphs 3.14-3.16 and 4.7-4.10 of Report number 
CAB/WS/24/010), so long as they are as a minimum, revenue 

cost neutral to the Council. 
 

5. The change to the Second Home Premium, set out in paragraphs 

4.7 to 4.10 of Report number CAB/WS/24/010, be approved. 
 

Resolved: 
That: 
6. The fees and charges price increases (as set out in Attachment 

D, Appendix 6a of Report number CAB/WS/24/010) be 
approved. 

 
Recommended to Council (as part of the budget setting 

process) (20 February 2024): 
That: 
7. The Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy (as set out in 

Attachment F of Report number CAB/WS/24/010), be approved. 
 

553. Community Chest Grants 2024 to 2025 (Report number 
CAB/WS/24/011) 
 
The Cabinet considered this report, which sought approval for the 

recommendations of the Grant Working Party, following its consideration of 
applications for Community Chest funding in the 2024 to 2025 financial year. 

 
Councillor Donna Higgins, Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities, 
drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet and explained that the 

Community Chest had £466,733 available for allocation for 2024 to 2025, 
subject to the funding targeting organisations supporting vulnerable 

individuals/families with cost-of-living challenges. 
 
A total of 46 applications were considered by the Grant Working Party, 

totalling £1,319,843.12.  Each application had been summarised within the 
appropriate category as listed in Appendix 1 to Report number 

CAB/WS/24/011. Each application was required to be evaluated in accordance 
with the eligibility and selection criteria provided to the Grant Working Party.  
The Grant Working Party had considered, in detail, each of the applications 

which had been received.  Officers would also endeavour to signpost those 
applicants that were unsuccessful or needed additional funding to other 

opportunities.   
 

Councillor Higgins wished to commend the Grant Working Party for the work 
involved and thanked the Officers that had supported the process. 
 

Page 8



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

The Cabinet noted that the Grant Working Party had considered, in detail, 
each of the applications which had been received and agreed that those that 

had been recommended for funding, satisfactorily met the eligibility and 
selection criteria. 

 
Resolved: 
That: 

 
A. The allocation of Community Chest funding for 2024 to 2025, be 

approved, namely: 

1. Reach Community Projects, Haverhill and  
Newmarket        £6,600 

2. West Suffolk Citizens Advice, West Suffolk   £245,000 

3.3. 3. Haverhill Community Trust – Signpost Project,  
Haverhill        £5,000 

4. Haverhill Men’s Shed Haverhill     £10,052 

5. Haverhill Scout and Guide Management Committee £5,000 

6. The Offshoot Foundation, West Suffolk   £3,000 

7. The Racing Centre, Newmarket     £5,100 

8. Bridge Community Church, Bury St Edmunds  £5,000 

9. Rural Coffee Caravan, West Suffolk    £6,812  

10. Suffolk Accident and Rescue Service (SARS), 

West Suffolk       £10,000 

11.11 11. The Stable Café and Community Space,  
Newmarket        £5,000 

12. Bury St Edmunds Women’s Aid, West Suffolk  £20,300 

13. HOPE after Suicide Loss, West Suffolk    £10,000 

14. St Nicholas Hospice Care, West Suffolk   £10,000 

15. Suffolk Rape Crisis, West Suffolk    £10,000 

16. Brave Futures, West Suffolk     £10,000 

17. EPIC Dads, Mildenhall      £2,500 

18. Home-start in Suffolk, West Suffolk    £7,000 

19. Still Good Food CIO, Bury St Edmunds   £8,672 

20. Suffolk Family Carers, West Suffolk   £2,500 

21. The Befriending Scheme, Haverhill   £5,000 

22. Second Chance Stroke Association,  
Bury St Edmunds       £2,500 

23. Suffolk Mind, West Suffolk     £6,000 

24. Bury Drop In, Bury St Edmunds     £9,916 

25. Free Food in Haverhill, Haverhill    £7,481 

26. Gatehouse Caring, Bury St Edmunds    £10,000 

22 27. Lyward Colley Trust CIC, West Suffolk    £6,000 

Page 9



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

28. Music Prescription CIC, Bury St Edmunds   £2,500 

29. Our Special Friends, West Suffolk    £9,000 

30. Lightwave CIO, Red Lodge and Beck Row   £5,000 

31. The Voluntary Network, West Suffolk    £10,000 

32. West Suffolk Vineyard Church, Bury St Edmunds  £5,800 

 

B. For the reasons set out in paragraph 3.4.3 of Report number: 
CAB/WS/24/011, no Community Chest funding for 2024 to 2025 be 

awarded to: 

1.1.1. Abbeycroft Leisure – Family Park Cooking, West Suffolk 

2. Jiggens Memorial Village Hall and Playing Field, Ixworth 

3. Theatre Royal, Outreach Project in Haverhill 

4. Vogue Athletics, Newmarket 

5. Brandon in Bloom, Brandon 

6. Haverhill Community Trust, Volunteer Centre, Haverhill 

7. St Mary’ Church Community Project, Kennett and Kentford 

8. Moreton Hall Youth Action Group Ltd, Bury St Edmunds 

9. Cruse Bereavement, West Suffolk 

10. Families Together, West Suffolk 

11. Zebras Children and Adults Charity CIO, Brandon 

12. Art Branches CIC, West Suffolk 

13. Boomerang Pet Food Bank, Haverhill 

14. British Red Cross, West Suffolk 

 

554. Great Barton Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) (Report number 
CAB/WS/24/012) 
 

The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending the adoption of 
the proposed update of the Great Barton Air Quality Action Plan for the period 
to January 2029 (as set out in Appendix A to Report number 

CAB/WS/24/012). 
 

Councillor Gerald Kelly, Portfolio Holder for Governance and Regulatory, drew 
relevant issues to the attention of the Cabinet and explained that in 
accordance with legislation, West Suffolk Council was required to have an Air 

Quality Action Plan for Great Barton, which stipulated the actions that would 
be taken to improve air quality in this area, setting out the target to show 

consistently reduced levels of pollution over the course of five years. The 
Great Barton Air Quality Action Plan had been in place since 2018 and had 
registered a consistent reduction in air pollution, but not for the requisite five-

year period.   
 

The proposed Action Plan covered three main priorities: 
 

Page 10



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

1. To reduce the number of heavy good vehicles (HGVs) and light goods 
vehicles (LGVs) travelling through Great Barton, where possible. 

2. To improve the flow of traffic along the A143. 
3. To ensure that new developments contributed positively to local air 

quality. 
 
Therefore, the Council must renew and update the Great Barton Air Quality 

Action Plan for a further five year period. 
 

Resolved: 
 

That the proposed update of the Great Barton Air Quality Action Plan, 

for the period January 2024 to January 2029, as set out in Appendix A 
to Report number CAB/WS/24/012, be adopted.  

 

555. West Suffolk Council Contaminated Land Strategy 2024 to 2029  
(Report number CAB/WS/24/013) 

 
The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending adoption of the 
West Suffolk Contaminated Land Strategy for the period to January 2029 (as 

set out in Appendix A to Report number CAB/WS/24/013). 
 

Councillor Gerald Kelly, Portfolio Holder for Governance and Regulatory, drew 
relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet and explained that the proposed 
Strategy would form part of a framework affecting the quality and use of land 

locally. It followed the principles of sustainability, aiming to achieve a balance 
between social, economic and environmental concerns, whilst meeting the 

authority’s statutory obligations and corporate responsibilities to protect and 
improve human health and the local environment.  
 

Following a review of the Strategy, it was found to continue to meet the 
Council’s responsibilities. A few minor amendments were made to ensure the 

document was up to date (as set out in paragraph 2.2 of Report number 
CAB/WS/24/013). 
 

The priorities by which West Suffolk Council would continue to deal with 
contaminated land were also outlined within the Strategy and included: 

• Protecting human health, controlled waters, designated ecosystems and 
damage to property from existing land pollution. 

• Encouraging sustainable clean-up practices to return land to a condition 

that was fit for use. 
• Encouraging re-use of previously developed and/or brownfield land. 

 
Resolved: 

 

That the draft West Suffolk Contaminated Land Strategy for the period 
January 2024 to January 2029, as set out in Appendix A to Report 

number CAB/WS/24/023, be adopted. 
 

 
 
 

Page 11



CAB.WS.06.02.2024 

556. Decisions Plan: 1 February 2024 to 31 May 2024 (Report number 
CAB/WS/24/014) 
 

The Cabinet considered this report which was the Cabinet Decisions Plan 
covering the period 1 February 2024 to 31 May 2024. 

 
Members took the opportunity to review the intended forthcoming decisions 
of the Cabinet.  However, no further information or amendments were 

requested on this occasion. 
 

557. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 
See minute number 558. below. 

 

558. Exempt Appendices: Budget and Council Tax Setting 2024 to 2025 
and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024 to 2028 (paragraph 3)  
(Report number CAB/WS/24/010) 

 
The Cabinet considered the exempt Appendices to this report.  However, no 

reference was made to specific detail and, therefore, this item was not held in 
private session. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 6.55 pm 

 
 

 

 

Signed by: 

 

 

 

 

 

Chair 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 12



Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/017 
 

 
 

West Suffolk Council Food 

Safety and Health and Safety 
Service Plan 2024 to 2025 
 

Report number: CAB/WS/24/017 

Report to and date: Cabinet 12 March 2024 

Cabinet member: Councillor Gerald Kelly 

Portfolio Holder for Governance and Regulatory 

Tel: 07968 396389 

Email: gerald.kelly@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

Lead officers: Jen Eves 

Director (HR, Governance and Regulatory) 

Tel: 01284 757015 

Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk  

 

Christian Moore 

Food Safety and Licensing Manager 

Tel: 01284 757042 

Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk  

 

Decisions Plan: The decision made as a result of this report will 
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be 
actioned until five clear working days of the 

publication of the decision have elapsed.  This item is 
included on the Decisions Plan. 

 
Wards impacted:  All wards 
 

Recommendation: It is recommended that Cabinet approves the Food 
Safety and Health and Safety Service Plan 2024 to 

2025, as contained in Appendix A to Report number: 
CAB/WS/24/017. 

 

 
 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6

mailto:gerald.kelly@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/017 
 

1. Context to this report 

 

1.1 Our Food Safety and Health and Safety Service Plan outlines our 

commitment to protect public health and safety and the environment, 
by conducting programmed and reactive interventions, investigations, 
and research to detect, eliminate and control hazards by applying 

fair, transparent, and proportionate enforcement. 
 

1.2 Food Safety 

The Food Standards Agency (FSA) Framework Agreement sets out 
what the FSA expects from local authorities in their delivery of official 
controls on food law. It includes the requirement to prepare a 

statutory food service plan and describes in detail which areas of the 
service should be covered by the plan. The Food Law Code of Practice 

states that each competent authority must have an up-to-date, 
documented food service plan which is readily available to food 
business operators and consumers. The plan must be subject to 

regular review and clearly state the period during which the plan has 
effect. 

 

1.3 The plan must cover all areas of food law that the competent 
authority has a duty to enforce and set out how the authority intends 
to deliver official controls within its area. 

 

1.4 Health and safety 
The Commercial Environmental Health (CEH) team within the 
Environmental Health service works in partnership with the Health 

and Safety Executive (HSE), other local authorities, private 
businesses and with other internal services where appropriate to 

regulate statutory health and safety provisions and to provide 
enforcement, education, guidance, and emergency intervention to 
ensure the health and safety of employees and other persons. 

 

1.5 The council commits to playing its part to implement the themes of 
the national strategy, “Protecting people and places” 2022 to 2032. 

 

1.6 A full copy of the West Suffolk Council Food Safety and Health and 

Safety Plan 2024 to 2025 is attached as Appendix A to this report. 

 

2. Delivery against 2022-2023 Plan 

 

2.1 Detailed below is a summary of progress made against the 2022 to 
2023 plan: 
 

2.2  The CEH team met the requirements of the Food Standards 

Agency’s quarterly ‘temperature check’ recovery plan. This set 
local authorities targets for a risk-based phased return to 

Page 14



Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/017 
 

undertaking food hygiene inspections in line with Food Law Code 
of Practice requirements. 

 

  The CEH team has worked to significantly reduce the outstanding 

inspection backlog from 809 inspections outstanding to 206. 
 

 The team have increased the number of samples taken from 20 in 
2022-2023 to 40 in 2023-2024. 
 

 Due to a reduction in staff resource the team have discontinued 
the planned health promotion work in partnership with Suffolk 

County Council Public Health, Suffolk Eat Out, Eat Well and Take 
Out, Eat Well. 

 
 Through additional temporary resource the CEH team were able to 

deliver a targeted project aimed at reducing accident rates in the 

transport sector. Significant issues were identified, and the team 
are following up with formal action as appropriate. Following the 

end of additional temporary resource, the team are not intending 
to deliver a health and safety project in 2024 to 2025. 

 

3. Challenges and priorities for food safety and 

health and safety 

 

3.1 Key challenges for this year ahead in implementing this plan include: 

3.2  Ensuring that the service plan meets the Food Law Code of 
Practice requirements and as part of this, to undertake a demand 
led review of the CEH team (people, processes and performance) 

to inform more efficient and effective ways of working and 
resourcing plans.  

 
 Significant time and resource investment into the council’s 

database system (ASSURE NEC) to ensure that the product is 
brought up to a standard that is fit for purpose and enables public 
facing services in line with our transformation programme. 

 

4. Other options considered, consultation and 

engagement undertaken 

 

4.1 The service plan is a statutory requirement set out in the code of 

practice for food safety, and therefore no other options have been 
considered and rejected. Engagement has been undertaken with 
staff, as well as with members through the Portfolio Holder for 

Governance and Regulatory. 
 

 
 

Page 15



Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/017 
 

5. Risks associated with the proposals 

 

5.1 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

The resourcing of the team is a key factor to the successful 

implementation of this plan and this will be closely monitored over 
the coming year. 
 

There are a range of risks that need to be acknowledged in adopting 
this plan;   

 
 Increasingly members of the public are reporting suspected food 

poisoning through social media, which is a potential resourcing 

pressure. 
 West Suffolk has an ageing population, which in turn are 

considered a vulnerable group. Cases of serious foodborne 
illnesses such as listeria monocytogenes continue to increase 
nationally and locally. 

 From 1 February 2024 the Health Protection Agency Group has 
returned to the pre-Covid notification processes for notifiable 

infectious diseases and confirmed food poisoning cases. This will 
see an increase in the numbers for 2024 to 2025, of which a 
percentage will require investigation. This will be factored into the 

review of the team to ensure that the council has the ability to 
undertake its role in outbreak investigations. 

 Discussions are ongoing in relation to the mandatory display of 
food hygiene ratings. Failure to undertake timely food hygiene 

inspections will impact the economic growth of new business, and 
a failure to meet inspection timescales, as set out in the Food Law 
Code of Practice, will impact consumer confidence in the national 

scheme. Mandatory display | Food Standards Agency 

5.2 Alongside these wider risks, which will be monitored and 
responded to accordingly, the intention is to utilise the demand led 

review of the team to review ways of working and resourcing 
across the team in accordance with the FSA requirements.  

 

6. Implications arising from the proposals 
 

6.1 Financial – The Commercial Environmental Health budget includes 
elements relating to the production and delivery of the Food Service 

Plan 2024 to 2025. As progress continues alongside the plan, further 
consideration will have to be given to resourcing and capacity to 

deliver against the framework. 
 

6.2 Legal compliance – The Commercial Environmental Health team are 
governed by the requirement to have in place a service plan. The 

implementation of this plan should help to secure compliance with 
legislative requirements for businesses. 

 

6.3 Personal data processing – There are no implications. 

Page 16

https://www.food.gov.uk/research/mandatory-display#:~:text=In%20Northern%20Ireland%20and%20Wales%2C%20food%20businesses%20are%20legally%20required,are%20encouraged%20to%20do%20so.


Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/017 
 

6.4 Equalities – There are no implications. 

6.5 Crime and disorder – There are no implications. 

6.6 Safeguarding – There are no implications. 

6.7 Environment or sustainability – There are no implications. 

6.8 HR or staffing – Adequate resource is needed to implement the 

service plan. 

6.9 Changes to existing policies – There are no implications. 

6.10 External organisations (such as businesses, community groups) – The 
service plan will allow the Commercial Environmental Health team to 
provide a robust service for businesses and the public, to protect 

public health. 
 

7. Appendices referenced in this report 
 

7.1 Appendix A - Draft Food Safety and Health and Safety Service plan, 
2024-2025  

 

8. Background documents associated with this 

report 
 

8.1 West Suffolk Council Food Safety and Health and Safety Ser2024 

 

Page 17

https://democracy.westsuffolk.gov.uk/documents/s47801/CAB.WS.23.016%20Appendix%20A%20WS%20Food%20Safety%20and%20Health%20and%20Safety%20Service%20Plan%202023-24.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

West Suffolk Council Food Safety 

and Health and Safety Service Plan 
 

2024-2025 
 

Date published: April 2024  

Version: Draft1 
  

Page 19



2 
 

Contents Page 

Food Safety Service Plan ...................................................................... 4 

Preface ............................................................................................................. 4 

1. Vision, purpose, aims and objectives ............................................................. 5 
1.1 Service vision and purpose ................................................................... 5 
1.2 Range of functions and activities ........................................................... 5 
1.3 Customers .......................................................................................... 5 
1.4 Aims and objectives ............................................................................. 6 
1.5 Links to the strategic priorities .............................................................. 6 
1.6 Enforcement policy .............................................................................. 8 

2. Resourcing ................................................................................................. 8 
2.1 Financial allocation .............................................................................. 8 
2.2 Staffing allocation ................................................................................ 8 
2.3 Resource to deliver Food Law Code of Practice (FLCoP ............................ 10 
2.4 Calculating resource to meet FLCoP ..................................................... 10 
2.5 Administration and systems specialist resourcing ................................... 12 
2.6 Staff development plan ...................................................................... 12 

3. Service delivery ........................................................................................ 12 
3.1 Demands on the food safety service ..................................................... 12 
3.2 Interventions at food establishments ................................................... 13 
3.4 Food hygiene practices or hygiene of premises complaints ...................... 18 
3.5 Food sampling ................................................................................... 18 
3.6 Control and investigation of outbreaks and food related infectious diseases

 ....................................................................................................... 20 
3.7 Food safety incidents ......................................................................... 20 
3.8 Endorsement for Export (EfE) .............................................................. 21 
3.9 Primary authority .............................................................................. 22 
3.10 Advice to business ............................................................................. 22 
3.11 Liaison with other organisations .......................................................... 23 
3.12 Food safety promotion........................................................................ 23 

4. Quality assessment ................................................................................... 24 
4.1 Annual review ................................................................................... 24 
4.2 Food Standards Agency service plan audit ............................................ 24 
4.3 Inter-authority audits, peer review and FHRS consistency ....................... 25 
4.4 Internal monitoring arrangements ....................................................... 25 
4.5 Benchmarking ................................................................................... 25 

Summary of priorities for 2024-2025 .................................................................. 26 

Health and Safety Service Plan 2023-24 ............................................ 27 

Preface ........................................................................................................... 27 

1. Vision, purpose, aims and objectives ........................................................... 27 
1.1 Service vision and purpose ................................................................. 27 
1.2 Aims and objectives ........................................................................... 27 

2. Service delivery ........................................................................................ 28 
2.1 The national code .............................................................................. 28 
2.2 The national strategy ......................................................................... 28 
2.3 Scope of the health and safety service ................................................. 28 
2.4 Section 18 compliance ....................................................................... 29 

3. Demands on the health and safety service ................................................... 30 
3.1 Investigation of accidents and complaints ............................................. 30 
3.2 Health and safety interventions and achievements ................................. 31 Page 20



3 
 

3.3 Safety Advisory Group........................................................................ 31 
3.4 Formal enforcement intervention ......................................................... 32 

4. Overview of key service challenges in 2023-24 ............................................. 32 
4.1 Intervention plan ............................................................................... 32 

Appendix -West Suffolk Council Business Plan 2023-24 for 
Environmental Health ........................................................................ 35 
 

  

Page 21



4 
 

Food Safety Service Plan 
 

Preface 
 

The Food Standard Agency (FSA) Framework Agreement sets out what the FSA 
expects from local authorities in their delivery of official controls on food law including 

within service plans. 
 

The Food Law Code of Practice (FLCoP) states that each competent authority must 
have an up-to-date, documented food service plan which is readily available to food 
business operators and consumers. The plan must be subject to regular review and 

clearly state the period during which the plan has effect. 
 

The plan must cover all areas of food law that the competent authority has a duty to 
enforce and set out how the authority intends to deliver official controls within its 
area. The plan must include imported food responsibilities and the control 

arrangements in place. The plan must include reference to the authority’s approach to 
enforcement including its alternative enforcement strategy for dealing with those 

premises rated as low risk under the Food Establishment Intervention Rating Scheme 
set. The plan must include a clear explanation of all the demands placed on the 
Service, including any backlog of interventions from previous years. 

 
The authority must clearly set out a calculation of the numbers of posts/full time 

equivalent staff members (FTE) required to deliver the Service in accordance with the 
FLCoP. This must be measured against the current level of resource with any shortfall 
clearly identified. The FSA has highlighted this requirement through an audit and 

associated report.  
 

This document has been developed with due regard to all available regulations, 
conditions, codes of practice, statutory guidance, and practical experience of 
legislation. Should anything in future publications, legislative or regulatory changes or 

case law impact upon the content of this service plan document, then it will be 
considered, and the document may be updated at a later stage and with due 

consideration to the resource implications for the regulating food authority. 
 

 

Page 22

https://www.food.gov.uk/about-us/food-and-feed-codes-of-practice#food-law-code-of-practice


 

5 

1. Vision, purpose, aims and objectives 
 

1.1 Service vision and purpose 
 

To protect public health and safety and the environment, by carrying out programmed 
and reactive interventions, investigations, and research to detect, eliminate and 

control hazards by applying fair, transparent, and proportionate enforcement. 

 

1.2 Range of functions and activities 
 

The food safety function is delivered by the Commercial Environmental Health (CEH) 
team, located within the Regulatory Service in the HR, Governance and Regulatory 

Directorate. 
 

The range of food safety functions undertaken by the CEH team are varied and include 
the following: 

 

 Programmed interventions, inspections, and revisits in food premises for which 
the West Suffolk Council is the enforcing authority. 

 Investigation of complaints concerning food, the full range of food 
establishments, and food handling practices. 

 Providing food safety advice and support to new and existing food business 

operators, including help by promoting the Food Standards Agency’s ‘Safer 
Food, Better Business’ food safety management system. 

 Food sampling in accordance with the programme prepared by the UK Health 
Security Agency and the Eastern Region Food Sampling Group. 

 Investigation of suspected and confirmed food poisoning cases and outbreaks, 

and other notified infectious disease cases. 
 Action in respect of food alerts issued by Food Standards Agency 

 Acting as ‘originating authority’ to food manufacturers and producers within 
West Suffolk and issuing endorsement for export documents for those who 
export foodstuffs. 

 Ensuring the removal of unfit food from the food chain by seizure, detention, or 
voluntary surrender. 

 Consultees for food safety guidance and policies, planning applications, and 
licensing applications. 

 Food safety promotional and educational campaigns.  
 Health development in areas related to the functions above.  
 Checks on inland imported food control at retail, catering and other 

establishments. 
 Registration of all food establishments, including applications for approval 

where appropriate. 
 

1.3 Customers 
 
Our customers are diverse and include: 

 
 all members of the public residing in or visiting West Suffolk 
 food establishments for which we are the responsible enforcing food authority 

 UK Health Security Agency (formerly Public Health England) 
 Food Standards Agency 

 Other local authorities 
 Trading Standards 
 Port Health 

 internal services Page 23



 

6 

 

1.4 Aims and objectives 
 

Within the broader work covered by the West Suffolk Council Service Plan 2024-25 for 
Environmental Health, West Suffolk Council has responsibilities as a food authority. 

 

Our aims are: 

 
 To work with businesses and consumers to promote and secure high standards 

of food safety and minimise risks to the health of residents and visitors, by 
ensuring that all food processes, premises, and food handlers within West 

Suffolk follow good food hygiene practice. 
 To seek to continually improve health, safety, and welfare standards and to 

reduce health inequalities of all individuals working in and visiting places of 

work within the district. 
 To protect public health and safety by carrying out targeted inspections, 

interventions, enquiries, investigations, and research to detect, eliminate and 
control hazards by applying fair, proportionate, and transparent enforcement. 

 To help businesses, through smarter ways of regulation to reduce the burden, 

so that they can make a beneficial contribution to the local economy. 
 

These aims are supported by a number of objectives: 
 

 Carry out an annual planned programme of food hygiene inspections in 

accordance with Food Standards Agency framework guidance, codes of practice 
and relevant statutory requirements. 

 Investigate food and food premises complaints and take appropriate action in 
accordance with our service standards, procedures, and national guidance. 

 Inform businesses of their legal obligations under relevant legislation. 

 Carry out routine microbiological sampling in accordance with national guidance 
and participate in local, regional, and nationally coordinated surveys. 

 Investigate and monitor reports of infections and notifiable diseases in 
partnership with UK Health Security Agency. 

 Respond to food alerts issued by the Food Standards Agency in accordance with 

local and national guidance. 
 Act as originating authority for certain food businesses and investigate or 

respond to any enquiries made by other authorities or agencies. 
 Provide advice, assistance, training and development opportunities to both 

businesses and consumers. Help businesses improve their standards by 

promoting best practice, self-regulation and enhancing the competence skills of 
employees. 

 Promote food safety and, where appropriate, participate in local and national 
campaigns. 

 Provide appropriate training and development opportunities for staff to ensure 

an appropriate level of competence. 
 Work in partnership with other agencies to help secure and promote good food 

hygiene. 
 Ensure the work of the service accords with West Suffolk Council policies. 

 

1.5 Links to the strategic priorities 
 
West Suffolk Council's Strategic Priorities 2024-2028 set out what the council aims to 

achieve with our partners, local businesses, communities and residents. This means 
focusing our efforts and resources in the areas that are the biggest priorities for West 
Suffolk. 

Page 24



 

7 

 
Our strategic vision is that working across West Suffolk, we will support the district to 

flourish by focusing on the delivery of: 
 
• affordable, available and decent homes 

• environmental resilience 
• sustainable growth 

• thriving communities. 
 
Within the strategic priorities document there is a section on ‘getting the essentials 

right’. 
 

The council recognises that West Suffolk’s businesses and residents rely on the council 
to get the essentials right every day. 
 

The council will continue to improve, by listening to feedback about how we are doing 
and monitoring our own performance. One of the ways we do this is through the use 

of key performance indicators (KPIs), which portfolio holders from cabinet monitor 
regularly, and which are reported publicly to Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee whose role is to independently scrutinise them.  

 
Every year, we also publish an annual report on our progress in delivering our 

priorities across the council’s areas of responsibility. 
 
More information on the strategic priorities can be found on our website: Strategic 

priorities page. 
 

  

Page 25

https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Policies_Strategies_and_Plans/strategic-priorities.cfm
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Policies_Strategies_and_Plans/strategic-priorities.cfm


 

8 

1.6 Enforcement policy 
 

The West Suffolk Council Enforcement Policy came into effect on 1 April 2019, 
providing a framework for all of our regulatory services, including the food safety 

service. 
 

The policy includes changes brought about by the Regulators’ Code which establishes 
how non-economic regulators should interact with those they are regulating. The code 
requires regulators to: 

 
 carry out their activities in a transparent way that helps those they regulate to 

comply and grow 
 design simple and straightforward ways to engage with and hear the views of 

those they regulate 

 base their regulatory activities on risk and share information about compliance 
and risk 

 ensure clear information, guidance and advice is available to help those they 
regulate meet their responsibilities. 

 

Officers, including those with responsibility for the enforcement of food and health 
and safety laws, have regard to the Enforcement Policy when making enforcement 

decisions. 
 

2. Resourcing 
 

2.1 Financial allocation 
 
Details of budgetary provision are included as annual corporate budgets published 

annually on our website. 
 
The council utilises its Legal Services provision. There is also financial provision made 

to enable the use of external legal services, where appropriate.  
 

The service will not receive any external funding this year, as opposed to previous 
years related to supporting councils through and beyond the pandemic. The team has 
been able to restore inspections to pre- pandemic levels. However, there are 

increasing numbers of food premises and regulatory requirements that will impact on 
the demands of the team. 

 
Given the financial constraints on the council, we will need to maximise the available 
resource to deliver this plan in line with our budgetary controls. Prior to any decisions 

being made about the resourcing levels required in the team, a demand led review will 
be undertaken by the council’s transformation and improvement programme this year. 

 

2.2 Staffing allocation 
 
West Suffolk Council’s food hygiene controls are delivered by the Commercial 

Environmental Health Team (CEH), consisting of 6 officer posts with a total of 3.2 FTE 
allocated to food hygiene delivery.  
 

There have been changes to the CEH team staffing allocation during 2023. During 
2022-2023 West Suffolk Council used the remainder of the Contain Outbreak 

Management Fund (COMF) to fund additional temporary resource, this allowed the 
team to recruit staff to undertake proactive food hygiene inspections and reactive 
investigations. This allowed for 9 officer posts with a total of 5.4 FTE allocated to food Page 26



 

9 

hygiene delivery. 
 

In addition, the service was able to set up a contract with an agency to supply a 
contractor on a per-inspection basis. 

 

This resource has been fundamental in preventing the current inspection backlog of 
206 outstanding inspections from increasing further. 

 
This additional resource comes to an end in March 2024, after which the team will be 
primarily reliant on retained staff to meet service demands. There are 6 officer posts 

with a total of 3.2 FTE allocated for food hygiene delivery. 
 

The CEH team consists of the following retained staff (as of 2 January 2024). 
 

Table 1. Breakdown of current staffing levels withing CEH Team 
January 2024 
 

Position Full time equivalent 

Commercial Environmental Health Team Leader 1.0 

Environmental Health Officer (EHO) 3.6 

Technical Officer (TO) 1.7 

Regulatory Systems Officer (shared database support) 0.3 

Total 6.6 

 
In addition to the above retained staff the team currently have a contract with an 
agency to provide contractors to carry out 250 low-risk food hygiene inspections 

during the 2023-2024 financial year. As this contract was partially funded using COMF 
monies it will reduce in scale to 130 D rated premises inspections each financial year. 

 
The Commercial Environmental Health Team Leader is the Lead Officer for food 
hygiene and food safety matters, in accordance with the Food Safety Act Food Law 

Code of Practice. 
 

In addition to the food safety work undertaken by the CEH team, the officers also 
carry out many other statutory and discretionary duties, including accident 
investigations, health and safety regulation and enforcement, animal licensing 

inspections, active participation in other groups such as the Mid-Anglia Environment 
Safety and Health Group, skin piercing registration and regulation, smoke free 

regulation and enforcement.  
 
These additional duties, and those within this plan, are carried out by a professional 

team of Environmental Health staff who have the qualifications, knowledge, skills and 
experience to undertake such a wide variety of activities. 

 
As these are also statutory functions that the team must deliver, this affects the 
amount of time that the team can dedicate to undertaking food safety interventions. 

The following table demonstrates how the time is split between the various activities 
that the CEH team are responsible for. 

  

Page 27



 

10 

Table 2. Full time equivalent (FTE) split across full range of 

Commercial Environmental Health work 

 

2.3 Resource to deliver FLCoP 
 
There are currently 1,853 registered food establishments within West Suffolk that the 
local authority is responsible for inspecting and enforcing. 

 
The Commercial Environmental Health Team are responsible for a wide variety of 

regulatory work including food safety checks, health and safety investigations, and 
animal licensing compliance checks and investigations.  
 

As a result, only a proportion of the 5.5 FTE within the CEH Team is dedicated to 
undertaking statutory food safety work. 

 
3.2 FTE is the current level of resource within West Suffolk Council that is available to 
undertake food safety interventions. 

 

2.4 Calculating resource to meet FLCoP 
 

West Suffolk Council recognises the importance of calculating necessary resource, as 
highlighted by the FSA. We will always seek to meet the FSA requirements, whilst 
recognising the value of the non-food safety work we undertake within this plan.  

 

Area Total 
FTE 

Description TL EHO EHO2 EHO3 EHO4 TO TO2 

Food service 
requests  

1.6 Food complaints 
related to premises 

and food poisoning  

 
0.25 0.25 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.4 

Food 
inspections (A-

D rating and 
new/unrated) 

1.4 Risk rated 
inspection 

programme; 
ensuring premises 

are broadly 
compliant  

 
0.25 0.25 0.3 0.3 0.3 

 

Alternative 
interventions 

(D-E rating) 

0.2 Self-assessment 
questions for low-

risk premises 

      
0.2 

Health and 
safety or 

accident 
investigations 

0.9 Includes 
investigations and 

court actions  

0.3 0.2 0.20 0.1 0.1 0.1 
 

Animal welfare 

(application, 
inspections, 
service 

requests) 

1.2 Licensing 

responsibilities  

   
0.4 0.4 

 
0.4 

Infectious 
disease control  

0.2 Investigations and 
business advice or 

enforcement to 
protect public  

0.2 
      

Page 28



 

11 

We have committed to working alongside the council’s Change and Service 
Improvement (CSI) team to carry out detailed analysis of the full range of work for 

which CEH is responsible. 
 
The tools that the CSI team will use should enable the team to utilise the benefits of 

efficient systems. In so doing it should allow a more accurate assessment of the FTE 
to deliver this plan, satisfying the FSA requirements and the FLCoP.  

 
This process will seek to utilise the Target Operating Model (TOM) and maximise the 
digital offer, which is encompassed in the principles of CSI.  

 
This work will aim to free up capacity and allow the team to undertake more pro-

active work. 
 
The objective of the review is to allow the team to work in a more efficient way 

through the implementation of these actions and by adopting the new ways of 
working. 

 
This will result in CEH adopting a “new normal” and working to ensure the team has 
the right resource, in the right place. It will look at a number for areas regarding 

resilience, succession planning, and horizon scanning against impending legal changes 
(e.g., Martyn’s Law and Cosmetic Beauty Licensing), which will impact on future work. 

 

  

Page 29



 

12 

2.5 Administration and systems specialist resourcing 
 
During 2022-2023 there were 4 FTE posts identified as available to provide systems 
specialist support to Regulatory Services, which were tailored to having an in-depth of 

understanding the management information system used with the service (NEC 
ASSURE) and working with the software provide to address issues and realise 

improvements. This Systems Team provided the equivalent of two dedicated 
individuals to Regulatory service.  
 

Following a review, a specialist role was created within Regulatory Services. This post 
is shared across the entire Regulatory Services, including CEH. 

 
A new model was adopted. It is reliant on professional officers building and managing 
the Assure system, which will inevitably impact on their time to deliver the 

enforcement interventions in the plan. 
 

A priority for 2024 is to review the necessary support for the Regulatory service. This 
will be informed by the CSI work and a more accurate assessment of available 
capacity understood on completion.  

 

2.6 Staff development plan 
 
The council has a staff performance review scheme. As part of the scheme, officers 

formally discuss and agree individual performance targets, training, and personal 
development plans with their line manager every 12 months. Progress with the plan 

is reviewed periodically so any issues can be raised and addressed. 
 
Relevant training areas are identified to ensure the requirements for authorised 

officers in accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice are met. The FSA’s 
Authorised Officer Competency Assessment form is used to help identify training and 

development needs. This is needed for any new staff as per the FLCoP and the other 
CEH team members who are not legally required to have it are working towards the 
completion of it. This piece of work will be done by 1 March 2024. 

 
The CEH team ensures that all enforcement officers are appropriately qualified and 

receive regular training to maintain and improve their level of competency. All officers 
are expected to have access to the equivalent of at least 20 hours update training (30 

hours for certain staff). A mixture of both internal and external training is provided for 
officers to achieve this. Following the decision by the Food Standards Agency to cease 
the provision of free training opportunities for EHOs, Suffolk authorities are working 

collaboratively to ensure that adequate training opportunities are available for all 
officers in the future. 

 

3. Service delivery 
 

3.1 Demands on the food safety service 
 

There are 1853 food establishments registered or approved under food safety 
legislation in West Suffolk. A profile of registered or approved food establishments 
classified in accordance with the Food Standards Agency’s main use code is given in 

table 3. Due to the migration from M3 to Assure there have been some data issues 
which we are working to resolve therefore data may not be as accurate as we would 

like. These issues are being worked on as time allows. 
 

Table 3. Profiles of registered or approved food establishments in West Page 30



 

13 

Suffolk 
Source: Assure Database 9 December 2023 (2022) (2021 figures) 

 

Food Standards Agency (FSA) category Number of establishments 

 2023 2022 2021 

Primary producers 26 25 27 

Manufacturers and packers 65 52 48 

Importers 2 2 1 

Distributors and transporters 57 73 80 

Retailers 331 392 401 

Restaurants and caterers 1,088 1,309 1,385 

Total 1,569 1,853 1,942 

Please note: Total food establishments for 2023 are not correct due to issues with 
the migration to Assure from the previous M3 database. 

 
West Suffolk Council have approved establishments that produce meat, fish, dairy and 

egg products. The number of West Suffolk food establishments approved or 
conditionally approved under EU Regulation 853/2004 is: 14 (2022 = 15) Source: 
Assure database 9 December 2023. 

  
West Suffolk attracts many tourists and visitors due to the range of things to do, from 

outdoor family fun and historical events to live music. Events and activities such as 
the Newmarket Races, and Forest Live see the team working with event organisers 
and others during the planning and delivery of their events to ensure that the food 

stored, prepared and served is safe to eat and complies with food safety laws. 
 

The CEH team perform out-of-hours inspections where this is necessary, for example 
some large outdoor events and Sunday or farmers’ markets. Some food businesses 
that are open for business at night, at weekends or in the early hours of the morning, 

are identified for occasional inspection at these times. 
 

There are many food businesses associated with, or operated by, the ethnic minority 
communities in West Suffolk – including Chinese or Cantonese, South Asian, Turkish, 

Greek, Thai, Portuguese and Polish. Most food businesses run by these groups are 
takeaways, restaurants, and retail shops. The CEH team makes use of translated 
information made freely available by the FSA through their website.  Additional 

translation services may be used where there is a legal requirement to do so, where 
it is necessary to help ensure that food business operators understand where action 

needs to be taken to protect against serious risk to public health, or to assist in 
efficient and effective service delivery. These additional translation services are 
rarely needed as part of our routine work. 

 
Correspondence with food business operators or customers known to have a poor 

understanding of English may be provided in appropriate languages advising the 
recipient of the legal importance of the letter and the need to obtain a full translation. 
 

Several food businesses cater specifically for people who are vulnerable because of 
age, disability and so on. This is considered by appropriate risk scoring criteria used in 

the risk rating of such premises to determine intervention and inspection frequencies. 
 

3.2 Interventions at food establishments 
 Page 31



 

14 

The CEH team aims to ensure that food in the West Suffolk area is fit for human 
consumption, and that outbreaks of food poisoning and other infectious diseases are 

controlled. To achieve this, inspections and interventions at food establishments are 
carried out using a risk-based approach, in accordance with the Food Law Code of 
Practice. Specialist computer software is used to record all food business 

establishments. These records are kept up to date and are used to administer the 
programme of risk-based inspections and other interventions. 

 
The Food Law Code of Practice requires that all new food establishments should receive 
an initial inspection. This should normally take place within 28 days of registration or 

from when the authority becomes aware that the establishment is in operation. This 
reflects the importance of ensuring new food establishments are complying with food 

law. It should be noted that new high-risk food establishments are to be prioritised 
under the FSA’s recovery plan, with local authorities deferring the inspection of new 
low-risk food businesses until a later date. The team are currently seeing a growing 

number of new food businesses within West Suffolk. These range from small 
independents to contract changes within set establishments. 

 
Food establishments are risk-rated using criteria set out in the Food Law Code of 
Practice. Establishments receive a risk rating according to: 

 
 the nature of their business, for example the risk associated with the type of 

food handled, processing methods, number, and vulnerability of customers 
 the standard of food safety compliance with food law achieved. 
 

Establishments may be rated as higher risk either because of the high-risk nature of 
the food and processing methods at their business, because of the low standards of 

food safety, or a combination of both. Establishments receive a risk rating ranging 
from A (highest risk) to E (lowest risk). Unrated establishments include new 

businesses that are waiting for an inspection to be carried out. Some establishments 
are outside the risk-based intervention and inspection programme, such as primary 
producers.  

 
Profiles of the food establishments by risk are shown below, in Table 4.  

 

Table 4 .  Profiles of food establishments according to risk 
Source: Assure database 9 December 2023, 2022, and 2021 

 
Please note: Total food establishments for 2023 are not correct due to issues with 

the migration to Assure from the previous M3 database. 
 
The ‘not rated’ category consists of either new premises awaiting inspection, outside 

the inspection programme, or premises requiring database recoding, for example as a 
non-food premises. 

 

Risk category and number of food establishments in each category 

Year A B C D E Not rated Total 

2023 1 15 141 301 351 333 1,142 

2022 3 33 245 659 749 147 1,836 

2021 5 27 174 734 632 370 1,942 

 
Due to the migration over to Assure from M3, it has highlighted some discrepancies 
with the data in table 4 above. The figure is missing approximately 896 businesses 

and we are working with NEC to solve these issues.  Page 32



 

15 

 
The minimum intervention frequency as required by the Food Law Code of Practice, 

and the estimated time per intervention for each risk category, are set out below in 
Table 5. 
 

The range of available interventions for food establishments includes inspections, 
monitoring, surveillance, verification, audit, sampling, education, advice, coaching, 

information, and intelligence gathering. The regulatory burden is minimised by 
selecting the most appropriate intervention for the risk category of the establishment. 
Alternative enforcement strategies (AES) include the use of questionnaires for lower 

risk category E food business establishments. 
 

Note that all estimated times in the following sections are based on previous 
experience. 
 

Table 5. Food Law Code of Practice minimum intervention frequency 

and locally estimated time per intervention for each risk category 
Source: Food Law Code of Practice, Food Standards Agency 
 

Category Minimum intervention frequency Estimated time per 

intervention (hours) 

A 6 months 6 

B 12 months 6 

C 18 months 5 

D 24 months 3 

E Alternative enforcement every 3 years 2 

Unrated or 

Uncategorised 

- 2 

 

The numbers of food interventions still due (including outstanding) up to 31 March 
2024 by risk category are shown below, in Table 6. This also includes inspection due 
pre-March 2023 that are still outstanding. These are all low-risk inspections and are 

likely to be carried out before 31 March 2024. 
 

  

Page 33



 

16 

Table 6. Number of food interventions due, including outstanding up to 

March 2024 
Source: Assure database 9 December 2023 
 

Risk category Number due up to 
March 2024 

Number due Pre- 
March 2023 

Estimated time to 
complete (hours) 

A 2 0 12 

B 9 0 54 

C 58 0 290 

D 105 8 315 

E 147 57 294 

Uncategorised 56 9 759 

Total 377 74 1,724 

 

Table 7. Inspections due April 2024 – March 2025 
Source: Assure database 9 December 2023 
 

Risk 

category 

Number due up to March 2025 Estimated time to 

complete (hours) 

A Unable to classify as they will come through 
from current inspections during the year. 

1 

6 

B 22 132 

C 197 985 

D 339 1,017 

E 88 176 

Uncategorised New inspections from new food registrations, 

this is an approximate figure for the year but 
will fluctuate. 

240 

480 

Total 887 2,796 

 
The table above does not include any backlog inspections, please refer to Table 6 

above for total numbers of outstanding including backlog from previous years. 
 
The total number food hygiene interventions carried out by the CEH team during April 

2023 -December 2023 are shown below, in Table 8. Alongside the figures from 
previous years. 

 

Table 8. Number of food interventions completed during April 2023 
December 2023 and for previous years 
Source: Assure database 9 December 2023 
 

Risk category April 2023 – December 2023 2022 –2023 2021 - 2022 

A 3 4 2 

B 21 16 11 

Page 34



 

17 

Risk category April 2023 – December 2023 2022 –2023 2021 - 2022 

C 111 169 141 

D 162 349 261 

E 130 332 15 

Other 38 72 30 

Total 465 870 532 

AES Questionnaire 13 66 17 

 

The total figures for April to December seem low however the CEH team have a cycle 
from 1 April to 31 March so there are three  months left of our inspection cycle. In 

next year’s plan these figures will increase due to the inspection cycle. 
 
Food safety interventions are undertaken following documented procedures. The date 

of a primary inspection may be brought forward, for example in response to local 
intelligence, a complaint, a new food registration, a material change in the business, 

receipt of information from the FSA, an outbreak, or being a seasonal business that 
may be closed at the time of the next date due. Other reactive interventions are 
carried out at other times, for example in response to customer complaints, alleged 

cases of food poisoning, food hazard warnings, sampling, revisits, and requests for 
advice. 

 
Most food businesses that supply food direct to the public receive a rating under the 

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS). These ratings range from 0 (urgent 
improvement necessary) to 5 (very good). Businesses that receive a rating of 0, 1 or 
2 have a poor level of compliance with food safety and hygiene law. 

 
Businesses that are broadly compliant with food safety and hygiene law will receive at 

least a rating of 3 (satisfactory). On 13 December 2023, 98.5 per cent, (2022 = 
98.5 per cent) (2021 = 98.5 per cent) of FHRS-rated West Suffolk food businesses 
were rated 3-5. Businesses that have a good level of compliance with food safety 

law will receive the top rating of 5. On 13 December 2023, 85.7 per cent (2022= 
85.6 per cent per cent) (2021 = 87.4 per cent) of FHRS-rated West Suffolk food 

businesses were rated 5. 
 
Interventions are undertaken more frequently for poorly compliant businesses due to 

the increased food safety risk identified. These interventions aim to achieve better 
and sustained compliance rates at poorly compliant food businesses. Revisits of poorly 

compliant businesses are carried out to secure the necessary improvements to protect 
public health. However, it should be noted that these revisits do not lead to an 
automatic review of their FHRS rating, and some businesses choose not to apply for a 

re-rating visit. Such businesses can be seen to have a low FHRS rating for a long 
period of time, however the CEH team will have carried out the necessary intervention 

visits to ensure any critical improvements have been made. 
 
The CEH team received 16 requests for a re-rating inspection between 1 April 2023 

and December 2023. 
 

The Trading Standards department of Suffolk County Council has responsibility for food 
standards matters. Liaison arrangements are in place through the Suffolk Food Liaison 
Group to develop joint work plans and to help ensure that matters of joint interest, 

such as food labelling, imported food, BSE controls, animal by-products, avian 
influenza and genetically modified foods are discussed. Joint visits with trading 

standards officers are made where appropriate. Copies of all food registrations Page 35



 

18 

received are forwarded to Suffolk County Council’s Trading Standards department. 
 

3.4 Food hygiene practices or hygiene of premises 
complaints 

 

Officers investigate food complaints in accordance with documented procedures and, 
where necessary, liaise with a business’ primary authority during the course of 
investigations. Officers also check the primary authority website to ensure that any 

published inspection plan is adhered to. In determining an appropriate course of 
action, the team take into consideration any reports received from the primary 

authority and the food business identified as the cause of the complaint and will have 
regard to the West Suffolk Council Enforcement Policy. The figures below have been 
impacted by the migration from the previous database to the current one and changes 

in the way in which complaints are recorded on the database. Very quick complaints or 
responses (five minutes or less) may not get recorded on the system. This is estimated 

to present an additional 20 per cent per cent in the number of complaints received. 
Planned resource optimisation work later in the year will tease this out. 
 

Table 9. Food hygiene complaints 2023-24 
Source: Assure database 13 December 2023 (2022) 

 

Complaint type Number 
(2022 in 

brackets) 

Estimated 
time per task 

(hours) 

Estimated time to 
complete (hours) 

(2022 in brackets) 

Unsatisfactory practices 14 (25) 6 84 (150) 

Unsatisfactory premises 24 (29) 6 144 (174) 

Food complaint (biological) 3 (2) 6 18 (12) 

Food complaint (foreign body) 17 (8) 6 102 (56) 

Food complaint (labelling) 5 (0) 5 25 (0) 

Food complaint (other) 76 (23) 5 380 (115) 

Food complaint (chemical) 0 (0) 4 0 (0) 

Food complaint (undercooked) 0 (3) 6 0 (18) 

Total 139 (90)  207 (535) 

 

3.5 Food sampling 
 
Microbiological food sampling makes an important contribution in protecting the public 

and discharging the council’s responsibility in food law enforcement. Microbiological 
food sampling is used as part of a planned approach to gather information about the 

microbiological quality, and possible presence of harmful microorganisms, in particular 
foods which are produced or sold locally. Based on this information appropriate action 
can be taken to protect the consumers. 

 
West Suffolk Council is committed to providing the resources necessary to carry out 

a sampling programme and the CEH team are responsible for undertaking the food 
sampling functions. Microbiological food sampling is carried out to a national and 

regional programme coordinated through the UK Health Security Agency (formerly 
PHE) and the Suffolk Food Safety Liaison Group. The food sampling is prioritised to 
concentrate upon one or more of the following criteria: 

 
 foods which are produced within West Suffolk Page 36



 

19 

 the risk ratings of the premises 
 any local, regional, or national coordinated sampling surveys or programmes. 

 
Most food samples, including environmental hygiene swabs, are taken informally for 
the purpose of monitoring, surveillance and intelligence gathering. Formal samples 

will be taken where enforcement action is anticipated and these samples will be 
taken in full compliance with the legislation, relevant Code of Practice and with 

consideration of the West Suffolk Council Enforcement Policy. 
 
Official laboratories as designated by the FSA will be used for samples obtained during 
the sampling programme. The designated laboratory is the UK Health Security Agency 

(UKHSA) Laboratory at Collindale, London. Other samples will be sent to the 
council’s nominated public analyst, Public Analyst Scientific Services Limited. Samples 

are recorded using the NEC Assure database. 
 
Samples may be taken during manufacturing or production processes for the 

purposes of ensuring food safety and establishing the effectiveness of the critical 
controls in the process. The food business will be notified of the result of any such 

sample analysis or examination. 
 
West Suffolk Council does not currently act formally as a primary authority for any 

food business. Where sampling identifies a problem with food manufactured outside 
the districts, the relevant primary or originating authority will be notified, and a copy 

of the certificate of analysis or examination will be forwarded to them. 
 
Food sampling will not normally be undertaken as a constituent part of food safety 

inspections. It may take place if, during the inspection, the authorised officer 
identified a particular problem that needs further investigation. 

 
Samples of food received as a food complaint may require microbiological 
examination, chemical analysis, or expert identification. 

 
Where a particular premises of food produced in West Suffolk is implicated in a case, 

or cases, of foodborne disease, food samples may be taken and submitted for 
examination, for the purpose of identifying any likely source of infection and 

controlling any risk to public health. These samples are likely to be formally taken and 
examined. 
 

Food samples may also be taken and submitted as part of a special investigation, for 
example in response to a food hazard warning or other intelligence received about 

potential food safety and quality issues. 
 

Table 10. Food samples 2023-24 against anticipated in 2024-25 
Source: Assure database 13 December 2023  
 

Year Number of 
samples 

Estimated time 
per sample hours) 

Total time 
(hours) 

Anticipated 2024-2025 20 2.5 50 

Actual 2023-2024 

(Current as of 13 December 2023) 

40 2.5 100.0 

Actual 2022-2023 11 2.5 27.5 

 
Following strategic direct from the FSA the CEH team undertook additional sampling 

during the period of January to March 2023. This was carried out in line with the Page 37



 

20 

current surveys that are agreed with UKHSA, using a Covid grant funded officer. The 
additional sampling work was only possible due to the extra resource provided by 

Covid funding. This resource finished on 31 December 2023. 
 

3.6 Control and investigation of outbreaks and food related 
infectious diseases 

 
The CEH team will assess and respond accordingly to reports of communicable 

diseases, including food-associated illness. The investigation of outbreaks of food 
poisoning is conducted in liaison with the Consultant in Communicable Disease 

Control (CCDC), having regard to the Norfolk, Suffolk and Cambridgeshire Joint 
Communicable Disease Incident and Outbreak Management Plan. Information relating 
to certain infections will be collected as a matter of urgency and passed to the Anglia 

Health Protection Team, UK Health Security Agency, in accordance with the East of 
England standard approach to investigating gastro-intestinal disease cases. 

 
The CEH team response to a report of communicable disease, including food-
associated illness, is undertaken following documented procedures. 
 

Table 11. Gastrointestinal disease cases notifications 2023-2024 against 

anticipated in 2024-25 
Source: Assure database 13 December 2023 
 

 Number of notifiable 
cases (individuals) 

Number of food 
poisoning complaints 

Anticipated 2024-2025 100 50 

2023-2024 

(Current as of 13 December 2023) 

28 17 

Actual 2022-2023 3 54 

 

Joint civil contingency and emergency stand-by arrangements exist to respond to 
suspected or confirmed outbreaks of infectious disease or food poisoning with 
either the potential to cause serious harm or death to any person, or debilitating 

illness or disease to significant numbers of people, or illness or disease to 
particularly vulnerable populations. 

 
On 12 December 2023 the Health Protection Agency Group (HPAG) recommenced and 
West Suffolk Council (WSC) was notified that from 1 February 2024 we will go back to 

pre-covid notification processes. WSC will be notified of all infectious diseases 
requiring investigation, which will see an increase in the numbers for 2024 to 2025. 

 

3.7 Food safety incidents 
 
Arrangements are in place to receive FSA Food Alerts for Action and take specified 

action on behalf of consumers. These come in via the Food Standards Agency to the 
Food Safety Lead Officer for action. 
 

  

Page 38



 

21 

Table 12. Food alerts requiring action 2022-23 against anticipated in 

2023-24 
Source: Assure database 13 December 2023 
 

 Number of alerts 
requiring local action 

Time per case 
(average) 

Total time 
(hours) 

Anticipated 2024 – 2025 5 4 20 

2023-2024 

(Current as of 13 December 
2023) 

3 4 12 

Actual 2022-2023 3 4 12 

 

3.8 Endorsement for Export (EfE) 
 

A number of West Suffolk food businesses export products outside the EU, a process 
that requires each consignment to be accompanied by an Endorsement for Export 

(EfE). 
 

The UK’s exit from the EU, BREXIT, reached its conclusion on 31 December 2020. The 
current trade arrangements in place with the EU have not necessitated the need for 
EfE’s to be issued for products being exported into the EU from the UK. 

 
All approved West Suffolk food businesses who had confirmed to the FSA that they 

currently export products of animal origin (POAO) to the EU and would continue to do 
so after Brexit was obtained and processed to enable them to export to the EU 
without the requirement to be accompanied by an EfE. West Suffolk Council also took 

steps to become listed as a supplier of EfE’s where only a certificate of attestation was 
required by the destination country. 

 
During 2021 the CEH team launched an online EfE offering. The CEH team are offering 
an electronically signed and emailed EfE, where destination countries allow for this. 

Wet-signed hard copy EfE’s will continue to be available on request. 
 

A review of the fees charged was undertaken due to the changes made regarding 
electronic and wet signed copies. The new process for providing electronic email EfE’s 
have indicated that a reduced fee of £21.01 per EfE from 4 October 2021. The fee 

charged for wet-signed hard copy EfE’s has changed to £63.03 In May 2023 the fees 
changed in line with increases and these fees have been calculated on a cost-recovery 

basis. EfE’s are now charged at £75.60 for hardcopies and £25.21 for electronic.  
 

Table 13. Endorsement for Exports (EfE) issued during 2023-24 

against anticipated in 2024-2025 
Source: Finance figures 15 December 2023 
  

Year Number of EfEs 

issued 

Fee charged per EfE Income generated 

Anticipated 
2024 - 2025 

800 £75.60 
£25.21 

£18,900 + 
£13,865.50 = 

£32,765.50 

Actual 1 April 
2023 -
December 2023 

573 total 
(218 Hardcopies 
361 Electronic) 

£63 / £75.60 
£21.01/£25.21 

£11,239.20 + 
£10,277.41 = 
£21,516.61 

Page 39



 

22 

Year Number of EfEs 
issued 

Fee charged per EfE Income generated 

2022 - 2023 892 total 

(247 hardcopies 
645 electronic) 

(247 - £63.00) 

(645 – £21.01) 

£15,573.60 

£13,551.45 = 
£29,125.05 

 

3.9 Primary authority 
 

The Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 introduced into law the principle 
of primary authority (PA). All local authorities are required, by law, when considering 

enforcement action against a business with multiple outlets, to follow advice agreed 
between the business and its PA. The purpose of these requirements is to achieve 

greater consistency in enforcement action in large, multi-outlet businesses. 
 
The CEH team supports the PA schemes. Where PA partnerships are registered with 

the Office for Product Safety and Standards (OPSS), an officer will contact the PA to 
ensure that proposed actions are not contrary to appropriate advice that the PA has 

previously issued. 
 

The CEH team will support requests from appropriate business for West Suffolk Council 

to become the PA for that business. Costs incurred by the authority in the setting up 
and management of the PA arrangement can be recovered from the business. 

 

3.10 Advice to business 
 
The CEH team actively support businesses to help them grow and become a success. 

The team provides advice to businesses, for example: 
 
 the promotion of information guidance notes to assist businesses comply with the 

law and good food hygiene practices. 
 directing enquiries to relevant sources of competent and reliable advice, for 

example the FSA website. 
 distribution of FSA and other guidance to businesses relating to specific and 

topical issues. 

 provision of advice to new and existing businesses during and following 
inspections 

 mailshots. 
 through the corporate social media accounts. 
 responding to requests for advice from businesses and members of the public. 

 
 

Table 14. Requests for advice 2023-24 against anticipated in 2024-25 
Source: Assure database 15 December 2023 

 

Year Number Time per case 
(average) 

Total time 
(hours) 

Anticipated 2024-2025 142 0 0 

Actual 2023-2024 

(Current as of 13 December 2023) 

111 4.5 499.5 

Actual 2022 -2023 142 4.5 639 

 
Many of these enquiries and advice requests take time for the officers to research and 

compile the advice, often very specialised, with some requiring visits to the premises. Page 40



 

23 

 
The CEH team takes all opportunities to engage with businesses, for example when a 

food registration form is received, to provide advice by telephone or by visits to the 
premises. Telephone advice is preferred in the first instance to start to engage with 
businesses. The advice visits enable businesses to commence their operations in a 

safe manner and in compliance with regulations, with appropriate signposting to other 
departments for further guidance relating to licensing, planning, building control, 

available grant funding, and so on. This proactive support enables the business to 
receive the higher FHRS food ratings at their initial food hygiene inspection, essential 
for a new business to present to customers. 

 
The CEH team contributes updates to the West Suffolk Council website pages and 

social media content. These offer a range of information on setting up a new 
business, Safer Food Better Business, commonly used forms to download, how to 
lodge complaints or make an enquiry, general food safety information and a link to 

the FSA’s website for further information. 
 

Time per case figures that have been anticipated for 2024-2025 will be reviewed as 
part of the pending service review work planned later this year. 
 

3.11 Liaison with other organisations 
 
The CEH team has extensive liaison in place with a wide range of other organisations. 
For food safety matters these include: 

 
 Food Standards Agency 

 Suffolk Food Liaison Group 
 Eastern Region Co-Ordinated Food Sampling Group 
 CCDC and the Suffolk Health Protection Team, Suffolk UK Health Security Agency 

 DEFRA 
 Immigration Compliance and Enforcement Team - East of England (Home 

Office) 
 West Suffolk Council’s Planning and Building Control teams (to review relevant 

applications) 
 Trading Standards and Environmental Health Departments nationally as required 
 Care Quality Commission 

 Suffolk Adult Safeguarding Board 
 Suffolk Regulatory Services and New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership 

Working Group 
 

3.12 Food safety promotion 
 

The CEH team has historically promoted food safety using materials provided by 
the FSA or produced in-house that are intended for businesses or the public. 
Examples included: 

 
 helping business operators meet regulations on food hygiene through promoting 

and supporting the FSA’s Safer Food Better Business packs 
 the use of FSA materials during Food Safety Week 
 the development of guidance for market stalls trading in West Suffolk 

 the writing of articles for distribution to businesses by external organisations. 
  

Page 41



 

24 

4. Quality assessment 
 

4.1 Annual review 
 
The Food Safety Service Plan is reviewed annually and considers the following: 

 
 performance and resources available over the previous 12 months. 

 advice and guidance issued by the FSA during the year. 
 new legislative requirements within food as well as the other areas under CEH 

remit review into impact this has had over the last 12 months. 

 priority for all reactive work relating to food, health and safety and infectious 
disease. 

 

4.2 Food Standards Agency service plan audit 
 
West Suffolk Council was selected to take part in a pilot audit to assist the FSA in how 

they carry out their audits of service plans and prioritising inspections within local 
authorities. Due to the previous involvement the CEH team had with the FSA around 
services plans and inspections we were chosen. The audit ran between 27 -30 June 

2023.  
 

Following the audit, the Food Standards Agency sent through their observation for the 
content of the 2023-2024 service plan and provided their requirements for how the 
2024-2025 service plan could be improved to better meet the requirements of the 

FLCoP. These observations have been taken on board and directly addressed within 
the current service plan.  

 
The FSA has instructed West Suffolk Council to not only set out the current available 

resource to undertake official food safety controls, but also necessary resource 
required to deliver 100 per cent of scheduled food safety interventions. 
 

The FSA have highlighted the following measures within their action plan for West 
Suffolk Council. 

 
a. Make sure that service plans include a clear explanation of all the demands 

placed on the service, including any backlog of interventions from previous 

years. 

b. Service plans should include a calculation of the numbers of posts or FTE 

required to deliver the service in accordance with the FLCoP, compared to the 

number available, identifying any shortfall. 

c. Make sure that service plans identify any variance and steps taken to address 

these variances. 

 

Although we take on board the findings of the audit, as a council and service we are 
due to undertake wider transformation work within CEH and this will be done before 

we refer to all the points above. 
 
The council’s internal transformation team will undertake detailed resource 
optimisation work to enable targeted process and system improvement, which will in 
turn enable demand management to be undertaken. 
 
This will build on time and motion studies carried out across CEH and will look at the 

full range of work that CEH undertake, rather than food safety in isolation. 
 Page 42



 

25 

4.3 Inter-authority audits, peer review and FHRS 
consistency 

 

The principle of inter-authority audits (IAA) is fully supported. The CEH team has 
previously undertaken inter-authority inspection and quality monitoring, with some 

benchmarking against our similar neighbouring authorities of Babergh and Mid Suffolk 
District Councils. 
 

Peer review also takes place amongst Suffolk authorities through the Suffolk Food 
Liaison Group and amongst the team, for example discussions during team meetings 

and joint visits. Consistency exercises are carried out amongst Suffolk authorities on a 
quarterly basis and discussions around multiple site operators.  
 

The Food Standards Agency issue a National FHRS Consistency Exercise annually 
which the CEH team always complete, ensuring that the interpretation of the 

regulations and guidance are consistently being applied in relation to the FHRS rating 
scheme. 
 

4.4 Internal monitoring arrangements 
 
The CEH team is implementing the following arrangements to assist in assessing and 
improving the quality of the work carried out: 

 
 checking samples of post-inspection reports, letters, and notices. This is carried 

out prior to one-to-one meetings to feedback on any issues. 
 undertaking at least two shadow-inspections or follow-up visits for each officer 

for each year, especially where there are high risk or significant issues. 

 performance reviews during team meetings based on the Food Safety and Health 
and Safety Service Plan. 

 one-to-one meetings for all team members, discussion around performance and 
specific issues. 

 The CEH Team Leader is allocated four category C or D food hygiene inspections 

per year (one per quarter) to help maintain professional competency. 
 

The contents of statutory notices will be discussed and agreed with the CEH Team 
Leader, or other suitably experienced colleagues before service, where appropriate. 
 

4.5 Benchmarking 
 
The Food Standards Agency (FSA) require bi-annual returns, and these are monitored, 
by the FSA, with action taken as necessary. The FSA also reports this performance 

data to central Government. 
 

During 2020 the FSA removed the requirement for a full Local Authority Enforcement 
Monitoring System (LAEMS) data submission due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic 

response. A much-simplified version of the return was completed by West Suffolk 
Council within the specified deadline. The FSA used to require a ‘temperature check’ 
return to be completed quarterly, which West Suffolk Council have complied with. The 

FSA have now put in place a bi-yearly return which occurs in April, full return and 
October, mid-year return. As with previous years WSC will continue to provide the 

return as requested. 
 

Monitoring performance against the standards set out in the West Suffolk Council 

Food Safety and Health and Safety Service Plan will be through management 
meetings and performance dashboards. Page 43



 

26 

 

Summary of priorities for 2024-2025 
 

 To undertake a demand led review of the team to inform the most efficient and 
effective ways of working, in terms of people and processes. 

 To implement Food Standards Agency’s recommendations as set out in their 

report following June 2023 audit. 
 To ensure implementation of the Food Standards Agency FLCoP requirements, 

following the end of the recovery plan. 
 To continue to monitor the resource provided to food safety enforcement to 

ensure it is adequate to meet the demands of the service, including new food 

business interventions in a timely manner. To continue with the timely food 
safety interventions. 

 Continue internal monitoring of officers and review regularly. 
 Review competency frameworks (There is a requirement in the Food Law Code of 

Practice and Guidance to monitor professional competency and consistency. 

Officers have completed self-assessments under this framework. These self-
assessments need to be reviewed by the lead officer for food and practical onsite 

assessments of inspection techniques undertaken). 
 Develop officer’s training plans. 
 Continue Lead Officer upskilling. 

 Manage and update Food Safety pages on the council’s web site. 
 Continue to implement electronic processes for customers to access the service. 

 Continue with public facing integrations using the Database as a tool for various 
areas of the team’s work. 

 Continue to support businesses and work with Trading Standards to achieve 
compliance with Food Information to Consumers regulatory requirements in 
respect of food allergens. 

 Continue to look at ways of improving and utilizing the capabilities of the Team’s 
database management system (ASSURE). This will improve use of the database, 

making improvements to allow improved customer facing services. Storing our 
data and information electronically. 

  

Page 44



 

27 

Health and Safety Service Plan 2023-24 
 

Preface 
 

West Suffolk Council is both an employer and a health and safety regulator and is part 
of the overall health and safety system for Great Britain. This service plan covers the 

work of the council as a regulator for certain health and safety activities, rather than 
its role as an employer. 

 
The Commercial Environmental Health (CEH) team within the Environmental Health 
service works in partnership with the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), other local 

authorities, private businesses and with other internal services where appropriate to 
regulate statutory health and safety provisions and to provide enforcement, 

education, guidance, and emergency intervention to ensure the health and safety of 
employees and other persons. 
 

Part of this work involves appointing persons as authorised inspectors under the 
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 to regulate health and safety in West Suffolk. 

 
This health and safety service plan provides a summary of the work which has been 
undertaken and a commitment to work which will be undertaken. 

 

1. Vision, purpose, aims and objectives 
 

1.1 Service vision and purpose 
 
To protect public health and safety and the environment, by carrying out 

interventions, investigations, and research to detect, eliminate and control hazards by 
applying fair, transparent and proportionate enforcement. 

 

1.2 Aims and objectives 
 
Within the broader work covered by the West Suffolk Council Service Plan 2024-25 for 

Environmental Health, West Suffolk Council has responsibilities as a health and safety 
enforcing authority. 
 

Our aims are: 
 

 to focus resources on proactive enforcement of the relevant statutory provisions 
and provide advice and education in high-risk workplaces in order that duty 
holders can achieve and maintain a good standard of compliance 

 to investigate workplace accidents in accordance with the incident selection 
criteria guidance 

 to respond to health and safety related aspects of civil emergencies and serious 
workplace incidents, including fatalities, where the council has enforcing 

responsibility 
 to help businesses, through smarter ways of regulation to reduce the burden, 

by providing advice and support to help them achieve a good standard of 

compliance and safe working conditions so that they can make a beneficial 
contribution to the local economy 

 to operate the service in accordance with the National Local Authority 
Enforcement Code and the Regulators Compliance Code to protect public health 
and safety by carrying out targeted inspections, interventions, enquiries, 

investigations, and research to detect, eliminate and control hazards by Page 45



 

28 

applying fair, proportionate, and transparent enforcement. 
 

Accidents and ill health at work can cost money and ruin lives. Good health and safety 
is good business – and it’s the law. At West Suffolk our overall aim is to work with 
others to protect people’s health and safety by ensuring risks in the changing 

workplace are managed properly. 
 

2. Service delivery 
 

2.1 The national code 
 
We follow the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) ‘National code’ for local authorities, 

to ensure consistent and proportionate inspection and enforcement. This code has 
legal effect as HSE guidance under section 18(4) of the Health and Safety at Work etc. 
Act 1974 and must therefore be the standard to which services are operated to ensure 

‘adequate arrangements for enforcement’ are met.  
 

The code sets out the expectations for a risk-based approach to targeting regulatory 
interventions and recognising that the primary responsibility lies with the business 
that creates the risk. The council’s regulatory role involves ensuring the effective and 

proportionate management of risks, supporting business, protecting the community, 
and contributing to the wider public health agenda. 

 

2.2 The national strategy 
 
The council commits to playing its part to implement the themes of the national 

strategy, ‘Protecting people and places’ 2022 to 2032 and the work to be undertaken 
in this regard is set out later in this service plan.  

 
The five strategic themes are: 
 

 Reduce work-related ill health, with a specific focus on mental health and 
stress. 

 Increase and maintain trust to ensure people feel safe where they live, where 
they work and, in their environment. 

 Enable industry to innovate safely to prevent major incidents, supporting the 

move towards net zero. 
 Maintain Great Britain’s record as one of the safest countries to work in. 

 Ensure West Suffolk Council remains a great place to work, and we attract and 
retain exceptional people. 

 

2.3 Scope of the health and safety service 
 
The health and safety service covers the following areas of work: 
 

 Health and safety interventions as part of a national priority, a significant local 
issue or where there is sufficient intelligence to require intervention. 

 Health and safety inspections of higher risk businesses and revisits. 
 Health and safety enforcement. 
 Raising health and safety standards through education and awareness, this 

includes working with businesses as part of the growth agenda. 
 Health and safety advice and guidance to a variety of stakeholders, including 

the public, employers, event organisers, partner enforcement agencies (for 
example emergency services). 

 Dealing with issues of health and safety concern and complaints. Page 46



 

29 

 Incident and ill health investigations. 
 Maintaining a cooling tower register. 

 Reviewing and responding to planning and licensing applications received for 
health and safety consultation. 

 Processing registrations for new skin piercing premises or practitioners, carrying 

out inspections and providing advice as appropriate. 
 

The service is delivered predominately in normal office hours, but also out of normal 
working hours to inspect businesses when operational or where circumstances such as 
accident investigations demand that officers remain on site. There is also a continual 

reactive service for emergencies, which includes the investigation of fatal or very 
serious workplace incidents. 

 

2.4 Section 18 compliance 
 
Section 18 of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (HASWA) puts a duty on 

the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and local authorities (LAs) to make adequate 
arrangements for enforcement of health and safety law. 
 

The HSE has published guidance (National Local Authority Enforcement Code) to assist 
local authorities in achieving the s.18 principles and standards. 

 
The council recognises the need to provide a competent inspectorate. The code has 
provided guidance for the training and competence of inspectors. All authorised 

inspectors will be appropriately qualified and through this service plan the council 
commits to them receiving regular training to maintain and develop their competence. 

 
Section 26 of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 allows local authorities to 
indemnify inspectors appointed under that act under specified circumstances. As set 

out in the corporate enforcement policy it is the policy of the council to indemnify 
inspectors appointed under that act against the whole of any damages and costs or 

expenses which may be involved, if the council is satisfied that the inspector honestly 
believed that the act complained of was within their powers and that their duty as an 

inspector entitled them to do it, providing the inspector was not wilfully acting against 
instructions. 
 

The authority recognises and affirms the importance of achieving and maintaining 
consistency to their approach in making all decisions concerning enforcement action. 

All enforcement decisions are made in line with our enforcement policy and with 
reference to the HSE’s Enforcement Management Model (EMM) where necessary and 
appropriate. The corporate enforcement policy covers all the council’s enforcement 

activities. 
 

Inspectors apply the principles of the EMM in all their regulatory actions, but they will 
only formally apply the EMM and record the outcome in certain circumstances, such as 
the service of an improvement notice or where evidence and professional opinion 

suggests the consideration of a prosecution.  
 

Where a management review is needed, this will be undertaken by the Commercial 
Environmental Health Team Leader with responsibility for Health and Safety or by the 
Food, Safety and Licensing Manager.  

 
Liaison with primary authorities, lead authorities or other regulatory bodies is a useful 

means of determining previous compliance when making assessments of health and 
safety management compliance, preventing duplicity in enforcement, and ensuring 
consistency in approach. The service will continue to liaise with other parties. All Page 47



 

30 

statutory enforcement notices are subject to internal peer review prior to service to 
ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

 

3. Demands on the health and safety service 
 
Much of the work undertaken over recent years has been reactive, either through 

advice and guidance within the scope of the council’s CEH team or through accident 
investigations. We recognise that our proactive initiatives have significantly reduced 

over several years due to the service demands for reactive investigation and other 
work streams. 
 

The CEH team have a variety of demands these range from high profile accident, 
investigations and health and safety project and the work this generates.  

 

3.1 Investigation of accidents and complaints 
 
The CEH team receive notifiable incidents both from the HSE Incident Contact Centre 

and sometimes directly from employers. Allegations of inadequate health and safety 
practices or hazardous situations are also received. 
 

Investigations are targeted on activities that give rise to serious risks or where 
hazards are least well controlled and have resulted in a fatality, major injury or 

occupational disease, as defined in the Reporting of Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrence Regulations 2013. 

 
Investigation work places a significant demand on the CEH team but is also a good 
source of intelligence regarding business compliance. The number and seriousness of 

accident notifications received can vary significantly from year to year. Nationally it is 
believed that there continues to be significant under reporting in this area. 

 
All reported work-related accidents notified to the service were reviewed based on 
incident selection criteria. The highest risk incidents were selected for further 

investigation and have either been bought to proper conclusion or are ongoing 
currently. All of our ongoing investigations involve triable either way offences under 

the act which means the time period for investigation is unlimited subject to no 
unnecessary delays by the service. 
 

The CEH team have been involved in eight serious investigations recently and all 
involve a large amount of resource. Recently there have been several high-profile 

accidents, which have led to serious injuries and court action. One resulted in a 
prosecution and a guilty plea, the company was fined £34,000 and ordered to pay 
another £13,810.19 in costs. The current standing of a fatality case is at £58,000 

however this will be more once case is closed. 
 

The seriousness of these accidents does mean that this impacts the food delivery plan 
due to resource. 
 

Table 1. Accident notifications received in 2023 against anticipated in 

2024-25 
Source: Assure database 15 December 2023 
 

 Number Time per case 
(estimated hours) 

Total time 
(hours) 

Anticipated 2024-2025 150 6 900 
Page 48



 

31 

2023-2024 
(Current as of 13 December 
2023) 

130 6 780 

Actual 2022-2023 136 6 816 

 
We have continued to maintain the cooling towers register to aid rapid investigation of 

potential sources in the case of a Legionella outbreak. 
 
We also continue to inspect new businesses that require registration for skin piercing 

activities including tattooing, micropigmentation, electrolysis, body piercing and 
acupuncture. These inspections involve looking at the structure of the proposed work 

environment, equipment, sterilisation procedures, clinical waste arrangements and 
infectious disease control. 

 

3.2 Health and safety interventions and achievements 
 
During 2023 - 2024 the additional flexibility afforded by the food hygiene inspection 

contract allowed the team to spend time carrying out a bespoke Health and Safety 
project looking to reduce accident rates associated with workplace transport. 
 

Workplace transport was selected as a priority area for enforcement following a series 
of significant accidents associated with this work activity. 

 
The inspection contract has allowed the team to carry out 80 engagements with 
businesses, 12 health and safety visits, and four revisits to ensure improvements to 

Health and Safety practices have been put in place. The team have additionally served 
one Prohibition Notice where an imminent risk to safety was identified following a 

health and safety visit. The project has also led to further improvement notices being 
served on a number of companies following visits that were carried out in this time. 
This included liaising with a variety of different agencies to get the number of 

problems resolved.  
 

3.3 Safety Advisory Group 
 

The Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) funding also contributed to an 
events officer for Commercial Environmental Health during 2023-2024, who was able 

to take on a significant amount of the event stakeholder response and administration 
that typically sat within the team. 
 

The post came to an end in September of 2023, with a significant proportion of the 
work that the postholder was responsible for finding its way back to Commercial 

Environmental Health Team Leader and officers. 
 
The CEH Team Leader has historically coordinated and chaired the West Suffolk Safety 

Advisory Group in reviewing health and safety issues, including Covid controls and 
food safety, for large scale public events planned within West Suffolk. The CEH team 

regularly participates in Safety Advisory Group (SAG) meetings and has good 
partnership working arrangements with other enforcement bodies.  
 

Our involvement with the SAG enabled event organisers to obtain the best advice and 
guidance to proactively deliver safe events for the public. See table 2 for information 

regarding SAG events. New measures are due to be implemented by Government 
regarding Martyn’s Law in relation to terrorist threats at events. At present it is not 

known which enforcement agency will be responsible for enforcement. 
 Page 49



 

32 

The group met and discussed large scale public events which are considered to have 
the potential to present a significant risk to public safety. 

 
The table below shows that there has been a significant increase in the number of 
large-scale events that have been run year on year following Covid restrictions being 

lifted. Recent trends would suggest that this is likely to increase for 2023/2024. 
 

Table 2. SAG Events and numbers of meetings 
Figures correct as of 1 January 2024 
 

 Number 
of events 

Number of events 
to SAG meeting 

Time per event 
– 15 hours 

Anticipated 2024 -2025 - 0 0 

2023-2024 

(Current as of 13 December 
2023) 

19 10 150 hours 

Actual 2022-23 30 12 180 hours 

 

3.4 Formal enforcement intervention 
 
In accordance with the West Suffolk Enforcement Policy, we take enforcement action 
in those businesses where there is significant risk or poor compliance history, in a 

graduated manner. In the first instance we will generally try and resolve health and 
safety contraventions informally, however we have the enforcement tools of both an 

‘Improvement’ or ‘Prohibition’ notice that may be used as deemed necessary by the 
inspector. Notices hold a legal status, where the recipient does not comply with the 

notice to the satisfaction of the inspector within the timescale specified, a prosecution 
may follow. 
 

4. Overview of key service challenges in 2023-24 
 
The team has seen a gradual decrease in proactive health and safety interventions 

occurring for several years, however, the team continues to investigate all serious 
accidents that meet the investigation criteria and to deal with complaints. 
 

The team are continuing their investigations into one fatality and have also 
undertaken several other major investigations. 

 

4.1 Intervention plan 
 
An intervention plan for health and safety will be used. These interventions will be 

overseen and managed by the CEH Team Leader and are compliant with the National 
Local Authority Enforcement Code and supplementary guidance, LAC 67/2 (revision 
12). 

 

The Local Authority Circular (LAC 67/2 (rev 12) provides LAs with guidance and tools for 
priority planning and targeting their interventions taking a proportionate and 
consistent risk-based approach to, enable them to meet the requirements of the 

National Local Enforcement Authority Code (National Local Authority (LA) Enforcement 
Code - HSE and LAs Working together - HSE) (the code). 
 

Section 18(4) of the Health and Safety at Work Act etc. 1974 places a duty on Local 
Authorities to make ‘adequate arrangements for the enforcement’ of health and safety Page 50

https://www.hse.gov.uk/lau/lacs/67-2-priorities-targeting-interventions.pdf
https://www.hse.gov.uk/lau/la-enforcement-code.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/lau/la-enforcement-code.htm


 

33 

and the Code sets out what is meant by ‘adequate arrangements for enforcement’. 
The Health and Safety Executive recommends that local authorities to consider local 

priorities when assessing the risk within their area and implement a suitable and 
sufficient strategy to deliver regulatory outcomes. 
 

Our work plan for 2023-24 included national priorities set by the HSE, local priorities 
and an inspection programme to meet the expectations of this guidance. It should be 

noted that not all national priorities were undertaken, some did not apply to West 
Suffolk businesses. 
 

Furthermore, the CEH team are members of the Suffolk Health and Safety Liaison 
Group that are involved in implementing local priority projects and peer reviewing 

health and safety activities between the Suffolk authorities. These local projects 
enable us to share and optimise resources, identify and share good practice and 
promote effective communications and sustainable productive partnerships. 

 
Total time in hours for the 2022-2023 workplace transport project was 40 hours of 

visit time and administration and planning was around 25 hours. This project is still 
being delivered in terms of issues found on those visits and therefore is taking up 
significant officer time. The extra time after the initial project has been 45 hours with 

the enforcement work. 
 

Considering the above the team will not be carrying out a proactive health and safety 
intervention project during 2024-2025 
 

The team will be following up on national trends through undertaking health and 
safety hazard spotting during their programmed food hygiene inspections. 

 
Table 3. Intervention planning table 2024-25 

 

Sector, 
premises type 

or specific cross 
sector activity 

Evidence 
that 

identified 
the concern 
and set its 

priority 

Planned 
intervention 

type 

Rationale for 
intervention 

Planned 
activity or 

resource 

Proactive 
interventions 

    

Electrical safety in 

hospitality 
settings 

National 

priority 

Inspection LAC 67/2 Annex 

A 

Compliance 

assessments 
during food 

hygiene 
inspections and 
education 

Gas Safety in 
commercial 
catering premises 

National 
priority and 
local 

intelligence 

Inspection LAC 67/2 Annex 
A 
Local 

intelligence 

Compliance 
assessment 
during food 

hygiene 
inspections and 

education 

Partnership 
working 

    

Page 51



 

34 

Sector, 
premises type 
or specific cross 

sector activity 

Evidence 
that 
identified 

the concern 
and set its 

priority 

Planned 
intervention 
type 

Rationale for 
intervention 

Planned 
activity or 
resource 

Proactive 
interventions 

    

Participate in the 

Suffolk Health 
and Safety 
Liaison Group 

Section 18 

compliance 
and 
partnership 

working 

Various Joined up 

approach to 
safety initiatives 
within Suffolk 

Represent WSC at 

the group 

Investigation of 
complaints 

    

To respond to 

requests for 
service 

Reactive 

referrals 

Various Advice, visits  

Investigation of 

accidents 

    

To review all 
accident 

notifications and 
investigate when 
meet the 

selection criteria 

Reactive 
referrals 

Various Control 
immediate 

hazards, reduce 
the likelihood of 
recurrence 

Accident 
investigation  

 

Summary of priorities for 2024-2025 
 

 To make sure accident investigations are prioritised. 
 To continue to monitor the resource provided to health and safety enforcement 

to make sure it is adequate to meet the demands of the service. 
 

Conclusion 
 

This service plan has been agreed with the director of HR, Governance and 
Regulatory, following consultation with Cabinet Portfolio Holder. It will be formally 
adopted and approved by Cabinet in due course.

Page 52



 

Version 1 35 

Appendix - West Suffolk Council Business Plan 2023-24 for 
Environmental Health 
 

Service manager: Andy Newman 
 

Action, objective or 
work package 

Link to Strategic 
priorities 

Funding 
(service 

budget, 
grant 
funding 

and so on) 

Timing Monitoring 
mechanism 

For example service 
level indicators, 
personal 

development 
reviews (PDRs)  

Lead 
officer and 

portfolio 
holder(s) 

Other services or 
partners 

involved, 
including business 
partner support 

Food safety 
 

Service requests will be 
triaged in line with risk 
and low-level complaints 

will be investigated during 
the next inspection. 

Statutory duty 
 

Growth in West 
Suffolk’s economy 
using reg and 

powers to protect 
public health 

Service 
budget 

Ongoing personal 
development 

reviews (PDRs) 

CEH Team 
Leader and 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Transformation 
Team 

Skin piercing 
 

Following fee changes 
work to change the system 
was carried out. 

Application process needs 
to be further reviewed due 

to GOV.UK forms ceasing 
to exist next year. 
 

Work with ICT will start to 
improve the application 

form and will tie in at 
phase 2 of Assure public 
facing as well as 

inspections process. 

Growth in West 
Suffolk’s 

economy using 
reg and powers 
to protect public 

health 

Service 
budget 

Ongoing Service level 
indicators 

CEH Team 
Leader and 

Portfolio 
Holder 

ICT Team 

P
age 53

https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Policies_Strategies_and_Plans/strategic-priorities.cfm
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Policies_Strategies_and_Plans/strategic-priorities.cfm


 

Version 1 36 

Action, objective or 
work package 

Link to Strategic 
priorities 

Funding 
(service 

budget, 
grant 

funding 
and so on) 

Timing Monitoring 
mechanism 

For example service 
level indicators, 

personal 
development 
reviews (PDRs)  

Lead 
officer and 

portfolio 
holder(s) 

Other services or 
partners 

involved, 
including business 

partner support 

Animal licensing 
 

Support required to reduce 
high risk cases 

 
Streamlined process for 
customer, free up officer 

time 

Family and 
communities have 

healthy residents 

Service 
budget 

2024 Service level 
indicators, personal 

development 
reviews (PDRs) 

CEH Team 
Leader and 

Portfolio 
Holder 

IT Team 

 P
age 54

https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Policies_Strategies_and_Plans/strategic-priorities.cfm
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Policies_Strategies_and_Plans/strategic-priorities.cfm


West Suffolk Council 

 

 

Page 1 of 8 

 

Report number CAB/WS/24/018 

Decisions Plan           
 

Key decisions and other executive decisions to be considered 
Date: 1 March 2024 to 31 May 2024 

Publication date:  9 February 2024 
 
The following plan shows both the key decisions and other decisions/matters taken in private, that the Cabinet, portfolio holders, 

joint committees or officers under delegated authority, are intending to take up to 31 May 2024. This table is updated on a monthly 
rolling basis and provides at least 28 clear days’ notice of the consideration of any key decisions and of the taking of any items in 

private.  
 
Executive decisions are taken at public meetings of the Cabinet and by other bodies/individuals provided with executive decision-

making powers. Some decisions and items may be taken in private during the parts of the meeting at which the public may be 
excluded, when it is likely that confidential or exempt information may be disclosed. This is indicated on the relevant meeting 

agenda and in the ‘Reason for taking the item in private’ column relevant to each item detailed on the plan. 
 
Members of the public may wish to: 

- make enquiries in respect of any of the intended decisions listed below; or 
- receive copies of any of the documents in the public domain listed below; or 

- receive copies of any other documents in the public domain relevant to those matters listed below which may be submitted to 
the decision taker; or 

- make representations in relation to why meetings to consider the listed items intended for consideration in private should be 

open to the public. 
 

In all instances, contact should be made with the named officer in the first instance, either on the telephone number listed against 
their name, or via email using the format firstname.surname@westsuffolk.gov.uk or via West Suffolk Council, West Suffolk House, 
Western Way, Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk, IP33 3YU or Mildenhall Hub, Sheldrick Way, Mildenhall, Suffolk IP28 7JX. 

 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 7

mailto:firstname.surname@westsuffolk.gov.uk


 
 

 

Page 2 of 8 

 

 

Expected 
decision 
date 

Subject and purpose 
of decision 

Reason for 
taking item 
in private 

(see Note 1 
for relevant 

exempt 
paragraphs) 
 

 
 

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 

(KD) or  
Rec (R) to 

Council on 
date 
 

(see Note 2 
for Key 

Decision 
definitions)   

Decision 
taker 
(see 

Note 3 
for 

member-
ship) 

Portfolio 
holder 
contact 

details 

Lead officer 
contact details 

Documents to 
be submitted 

12/03/24 
 
(new) 

 
 

Olding Road Options 
Appraisal  
The Cabinet will be 

asked to consider an 
options appraisal for 

the site at Olding 
Road, Bury St 
Edmunds and to agree 

and recommend to 
Council a preferred 

option with which to 
proceed.  
 

(Note that since 
publication of this 

version of the 
Decisions Plan, this 

item has been deferred 
for consideration at a 
later date) 

 
 

Exempt 
appendices: 
paragraph 3 

(R) Council – 
26/03/24  
To be 

confirmed 

Cabinet/ 
Council 

Diane Hind 
Resources 

Rachael Mann 
Director 
(Resources and 

Property) 
01638 719245 

Report to Cabinet 
with recommend-
ations to Council 

and appendices, 
including exempt 

appendices 
attached. 
 

P
age 56



 
 

 

Page 3 of 8 

 

 

Expected 
decision 
date 

Subject and purpose 
of decision 

Reason for 
taking item 
in private 

(see Note 1 
for relevant 

exempt 
paragraphs) 
 

 
 

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 

(KD) or  
Rec (R) to 

Council on 
date 
 

(see Note 2 
for Key 

Decision 
definitions)   

Decision 
taker 
(see 

Note 3 
for 

member-
ship) 

Portfolio 
holder 
contact 

details 

Lead officer 
contact details 

Documents to 
be submitted 

12/03/24  
 
(new) 

Food Safety and 
Health and Safety 
Service Plan 

The Cabinet will be 
asked to consider and 

approve a revised Food 
Safety and Health and 
Safety Service Plan. 

 

Not applicable (D) Cabinet 
 

Gerald Kelly 
Governance 
and Regulatory 

07968 396389 
 

Jen Eves 
Director (HR, 
Governance and 

Regulatory) 
01284 757015 

 
Andrew Newman 
Service Manager 

(Regulatory) 
01638 719276 

  

Report to  
Cabinet with 
revised plan 

attached. 

12/03/24 

 
 

Revenues Collection 

Performance and 
Write Offs 
The Cabinet will be 

asked to consider 
writing-off outstanding 

debts, as detailed in 
the exempt 
appendices. 

 

Exempt 

appendices: 
paragraphs 1 
and 2 

(KD) (a) Cabinet  Diane Hind 

Resources 
 

Rachael Mann 

Director 
(Resources and 
Property) 

01638 719245 

Report to Cabinet 

with exempt 
appendices 
attached. 

P
age 57



 
 

 

Page 4 of 8 

 

 

Expected 
decision 
date 

Subject and purpose 
of decision 

Reason for 
taking item 
in private 

(see Note 1 
for relevant 

exempt 
paragraphs) 
 

 
 

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 

(KD) or  
Rec (R) to 

Council on 
date 
 

(see Note 2 
for Key 

Decision 
definitions)   

Decision 
taker 
(see 

Note 3 
for 

member-
ship) 

Portfolio 
holder 
contact 

details 

Lead officer 
contact details 

Documents to 
be submitted 

21/05/24 
 
(new) 

Review and 
Appointment to 
Cabinet 

Panels/Working 
Groups/Joint 

Committees 
The Cabinet will be 
asked to review and 

appoint to its 
panels/working 

groups/joint 
committees. 
 

Not applicable (D) Cabinet Cliff Waterman  
Leader of the 
Council 

01284 757001 

Jen Eves 
Director 
(HR, Governance 

and Regulatory) 
01284 757015 

 
Teresa Halliday 
Service Manager 

(Legal and 
Governance) 

01284 757144 
 

Report to 
Cabinet. 

P
age 58



 

 

Page 5 of 8 

 

 

Note 1: Definition of exempt information and relevant paragraphs of the Local Government Act 1972 
 

In accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
The public may be excluded from all or part of the meeting during the consideration of items of business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information defined in Schedule 12(A) of the Act, as follows: 

 
1. Information relating to any individual. 

2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 

information). 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with 
any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, 

the authority. 
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 

a. to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
b. to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime. 

 

In accordance with Section 100A(3) (a) and (b) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
Confidential information is also not for public access, but the difference between this and exempt information is that a Government 

department, legal opinion or the court has prohibited its disclosure in the public domain. Should confidential information require 
consideration in private, this will be detailed in this Decisions Plan. 
 

P
age 59



 

 

Page 6 of 8 

 

 

Note 2: Key decision definition 
 

A key decision is an executive decision that either: 

 
a. Results in new expenditure, or a reduced income or savings of more than £100k in any one year that has not otherwise 

been included in the Council’s revenue or capital budgets. 

 
b. Comprises or includes the making, approval or publication of a draft or final scheme, which is not a routine business 

decision, that may require, either directly or in the event of objections, the approval of a Minister of the Crown. 
 
c. Results in the formation of a new company, limited liability partnership or joint venture. 

 
d. Has a potentially detrimental impact on communities outside of West Suffolk District. 

 
e. Is a decision that is significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in a definable local community in the 

District, or on one or more wards, in that it will: 

i. Have a long-term, lasting impact on that community; or 
ii. Restrict the ability of individual businesses or residents in that area to undertake particular activities; or 

iii. Removes the provision of a service or facility for that community; or 
iv. Increases the charges payable by members of the community to provide a service or facility by more than 5%; or 

v. Have the potential to create significant local controversy or reputational damage to the Council 
f. A matter that the decision maker considers to be a key decision. 

 

g. Any matters that fall under the scope of e. above must be subject to consultation with the local Member(s) in Wards that 

are likely to be impacted by the decision prior to the decision being made. 

P
age 60



 

 

Page 7 of 8 

 

 

Note 3: Membership of bodies making key decisions 
 

a. Membership of West Suffolk Council’s Cabinet and their portfolios 
 

Cabinet Member Portfolio 

Cliff Waterman Leader of the Council 
Victor Lukaniuk Deputy Leader of the Council  
Donna Higgins Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities 

Diane Hind Portfolio Holder for Resources 
Gerald Kelly Portfolio Holder for Governance and Regulatory  

Richard O’Driscoll Portfolio Holder for Housing 
Ian Shipp Portfolio Holder for Leisure 
David Taylor Portfolio Holder for Operations 

Jim Thorndyke Portfolio Holder for Planning 
Indy Wijenayaka Portfolio Holder for Growth 

 

P
age 61



 

 

Page 8 of 8 

 

 

 
b. Membership of the Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee (made up of Breckland Council, East 

Cambridgeshire District Council, East Suffolk Council, Fenland District Council and West Suffolk Council)  

 

Member Council Full representative Substitute representatives 

Breckland Philip Cowen Sam Chapman-Allen 
Sarah Suggitt 

East Cambridgeshire James Lay Anna Bailey 
Alan Sharp 

East Suffolk Paul Ashton Peter Byatt 
Vacancy 

Fenland Jan French Chris Boden 
Vacancy 

West Suffolk Diane Hind Victor Lukaniuk 
David Taylor 

 
 

Jennifer Eves 
Director (Human Resources, Governance and Regulatory) 
Date: 9 February 2024 

P
age 62



Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/019 
 

 
 

Revenues collection 

performance and 
write-offs 
 

Report number: CAB/WS/24/019 
 

Report to and date: Cabinet  12 March 2024 

Cabinet member: Councillor Diane Hind 
Portfolio Holder for Resources 

Email: diane.hind@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

Lead officer: Rachael Mann 
Director (Resources and Property) 

Tel: 01638 719245 
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk  

 

Decisions Plan: The decision made as a result of this report will 
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be 

actioned until five clear working days of the 
publication of the decision have elapsed.  This item is 
included on the Decisions Plan but no longer 

constitutes a Key Decision 
 

Wards impacted:  All wards 
 
Recommendation: The write-off of the amounts detailed in the exempt 

appendices to Report number: CAB/WS/24/019, be 
approved, as follows: 

     

1.  
 

 

Exempt Appendix 1: Council Tax totalling 
£24,604.84 

 

2.  Exempt Appendix 2: Overpayment of 
Housing Benefit totalling £25,713.11 
 

3.  Exempt Appendix 3: Sundry Debt of 

£9,439.63 

Page 63

Agenda Item 8

mailto:diane.hind@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/019 
 

   

1. Context to this report 
 

1.1 The revenues section collects outstanding debts in accordance with 
either statutory guidelines or council agreed procedures.   
 

1.2 When all these procedures have been exhausted the outstanding debt 

is written off using the delegated authority of the Director (Resources 
and Property) for debts up to £4,999.99 or by Cabinet for debts over 

£5,000.00. 
 

1.3 It is best practice to monitor the recovery procedures for outstanding 
debts regularly and, when appropriate, write off irrecoverable debts. 

 

1.4 
 

Provision for irrecoverable debts is included both in the Business 
Rates and Council Tax Collection Funds (with precepting authorities 
picking up their relevant shares) and the General Fund (in relation to 

sundry debts) and writing off debts that are known to be 
irrecoverable ensures that staff are focussed on achieving good 

collection levels in respect of the recoverable debt.  
 

1.5 As at 1 February 2024 the Council Tax percentage of debt written off 
during 2023 to 2024 for all previous years is 0.01 percent. 

 

1.6 As at 1 February 2024 the business rates percentage of debt written 
off during 2023 to 2024 for all previous years is 0.01 percent. 

 

2. Proposals within this report 
 

2.1 To review the current revenue collection performance and to consider 
writing off outstanding debts, as detailed in the exempt appendices. 

 

2.2 Provision is made in the accounts for non-recovery but the total 
amounts to be written off are as follows with full details shown in 
Exempt Appendix 1 Council Tax totalling £24,604.84 

Exempt Appendix 2 Housing Benefit Overpayment totalling 
£25,713.11 

Exempt Appendix 3 Sundry Debt totalling £9,439.63 

2.3 

 
 

 
 

As at 1 April 2023 the total National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 

billed by Anglia Revenues Partnership on behalf of West Suffolk 
Council (as the billing Authority) is £70.3 million per annum. The 

collection rate as at 1 February 2024 was 89.87 percent against a 
profiled target of 88.50 percent. 
   

2.4 

 
 

As at 1 April 2023 the total Council Tax billed by Anglia Revenues 

Partnership on behalf of West Suffolk Council (includes the County, 
Police and Parish precept elements) is £118.4 million per annum. The 

Page 64



Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/019 
 

 
 

collection rate as at 1 February 2024 was 92.04 percent against a 
profiled target of 92.02 percent. 

 

3. Alternative options that have been considered 
 

3.1 There is an extensive and supportive recovery process prior to the 
engagement of an enforcement agency. The council currently uses 

the services of the ARP Enforcement Agency to assist in the collection 
of business rates and Council Tax and also has on-line tracing 

facilities. Although this service was suspended during the lockdown 
and up to more recently, enforcement is now reinstated in line with 
Government guidance. It is not considered appropriate to pass the 

debts on to another agency.  
 

3.2 It should be noted that in the event that a written-off debt becomes 
recoverable, the amount is written back on, and enforcement 

procedures are re-established. This might happen, for example, if 
someone has gone away with no trace, and then they are 

unexpectedly ‘found’ again, through whatever route. 

 

4. Consultation and engagement undertaken 
 

4.1 Leadership Team and the Portfolio Holder for Resources and Property 

have been consulted with on the proposed write-offs. 

 

5. Risks associated with the proposals 
 

5.1 Low Risk - Debts are written off which could have been collected  
Control - Extensive recovery procedures are in place to ensure that all 
possible mechanisms are exhausted before a debt is written off. 

 
Medium Risk – Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on recovery of 

debts and the increase in bankruptcies, IVA, CVA’s are likely to 
impact this years’ collection rates. Close monitoring is taking place 
and support provided where possible. 

 

6. Implications arising from the proposals 
 

6.1 Financial as above 

6.2 Legal Compliance  

- the recovery procedures followed have been previously agreed; 
writing off uncollectable debt allows staff to focus recovery action on 
debt which is recoverable. 

6.3 Personal Data Processing  

- no changes to the way we process personal data. 

6.4 Equalities  

Page 65



Cabinet – 12 March 2024 – CAB/WS/24/019 
 

- the application of predetermined recovery procedures ensures that 
everybody is treated consistently.  

- failure to collect any debt impacts on either the levels of service 
provision or the levels of charges. 

- all available remedies are used to recover the debt before write-off 

is considered. 
- the provision of services by the Council applies to everyone in the 

area. 

6.5 Crime and Disorder 

6.6 Environment or Sustainability 

6.7 HR or Staffing 

6.8 Changes to existing policies 

6.9 External organisations (such as businesses, community groups) 

 No significant implications on 6.1 – 6.8 as a result of this report 

 

7. Appendices referenced in this report 
 

7.1 Exempt Appendix 1: Council Tax 
Exempt Appendix 2: Overpayment of housing benefit 

Exempt Appendix 3: Sundry debt 
 

8. Background documents associated with this 

report 
 

8.1 None 

 

Page 66



Document is Restricted

Page 67

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 West Suffolk Council Food Safety and Health and Safety Service Plan 2024 to 2025
	CAB.WS.24.017 Appendix A WSC Food Safety and Health and Safety Service Plan 2024-2025

	7 Decisions Plan: 1 March 2024 to 31 May 2024
	8 Revenues collection performance and write offs
	10 Exempt appendices: Revenues collection performance and write-offs (paragraphs 1 and 2)
	CAB.WS.24.019 EXEMPT Appendix 2 Housing Benefit Overpayment
	CAB.WS.24.019 EXEMPT Appendix 3 Sundry Write-Offs


